Public Document Pack

SCRUTINY BOARD (STRATEGY AND RESOURCES)
Meeting to be held in Civic Hall, Leeds, LS1 1UR on
Monday 25 July 2022 at 10.00 am
(A pre-meeting will take place for all members of the board at 9.45 a.m.)
MEMBERSHIP
Councillor S Burke
Councillor P Carlill
Councillor D Chapman
Councillor R Finnigan
Councillor S Firth
Councillor B Flynn
Councillor M France-Mir
Councillor C Gruen
Councillor J Lennox
Councillor K Ritchie
Councillor A Scopes (Chair)

- Middleton Park
- Calverley & Farsley
- Rothwell
- Morley North
- Harewood
- Adel & Wharfedale
- Moortown
- Bramley & Stanningley
- Crossgates & Whinmoor
- Bramley & Stanningley
- Beeston & Holbeck

To Note: Please do not attend the meeting in person if you have symptoms of Covid-19
and please follow current public health advice to avoid passing the virus onto other
people.
Note to observers of the meeting: To remotely observe this meeting, please click on the
‘To View Meeting’ link which will feature on the meeting’s webpage (linked below) ahead
of the meeting. The webcast will become available at the commencement of the meeting.
Strategy & Resources Scrutiny Board 25 July 2022

Principal Scrutiny Adviser:
Rebecca Atherton
Tel: 37 88642
A

AGENDA

Item
No
1

Ward/Equal
Opportunities

Item Not
Open

Page
No
APPEALS AGAINST REFUSAL OF INSPECTION
OF DOCUMENTS
To consider any appeals in accordance with
Procedure Rule 25* of the Access to Information
Procedure Rules (in the event of an Appeal the
press and public will be excluded).
(* In accordance with Procedure Rule 25, notice of
an appeal must be received in writing by the Head
of Governance Services at least 24 hours before
the meeting).

2

EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE
EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC
1

To highlight reports or appendices which
officers have identified as containing exempt
information, and where officers consider that
the public interest in maintaining the
exemption outweighs the public interest in
disclosing the information, for the reasons
outlined in the report.

2

To consider whether or not to accept the
officers recommendation in respect of the
above information.

3
If so, to formally pass the following
resolution:RESOLVED – That the press and public be
excluded from the meeting during
consideration of the following parts of the
agenda designated as containing exempt
information on the grounds that it is likely, in
view of the nature of the business to be
transacted or the nature of the proceedings,
that if members of the press and public were
present there would be disclosure to them of
exempt information, as follows:
No exempt items have been identified.

B

Item
No
3

Ward/Equal
Opportunities

Item Not
Open

Page
No
LATE ITEMS
To identify items which have been admitted to the
agenda by the Chair for consideration.
(The special circumstances shall be specified in
the minutes.)

4

DECLARATION OF INTERESTS
To disclose or draw attention to any interests in
accordance with Leeds City Council’s ‘Councillor
Code of Conduct’.

5

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND
NOTIFICATION OF SUBSTITUTES
To receive any apologies for absence and
notification of substitutes.

6

MINUTES - 20 JUNE 2022

5 - 14

To confirm as a correct record, the minutes of the
meeting held on 20 June 2022.
7

DIGITAL STRATEGY UPDATE

15 26

To receive a report from the Chief Digital and
Information Officer outlining the new digital
strategy for the city, the digital transformation work
being undertaken with Leeds Health Care
Partnership and the planned programme of
innovation being developed by the Digital Change
Team.
8

AGILE WORKING AND ESTATE REALISATION
To receive an update from the Director of
Resources about the Council’s Future Working
programme.

C

27 38

Item
No
9

Ward/Equal
Opportunities

Item Not
Open

Page
No
RECRUITMENT AND RETENTION UPDATE

39 48

To receive an update from the Director of
Resources on current workforce challenges
impacting recruitment and the programme of
interventions designed to respond to some of those
challenges.
10

AREA BASED INCOME

49 54

To receive a report from the Chief Officer Financial
Services about Council Tax Income and Business
Rates Income per ward.
11

WORK SCHEDULE
To consider the Scrutiny Board’s work schedule for
the 2022/23 municipal year.

12

DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING
The next meeting of the Scrutiny Board (Strategy &
Resources) will take place on 26 September at
10am. There will be a pre-meeting for all Scrutiny
Board members at 9.45am.

D

55 72

Agenda Item 6
SCRUTINY BOARD (STRATEGY AND RESOURCES)
MONDAY, 20TH JUNE, 2022
PRESENT:

Councillor A Scopes in the Chair
Councillors S Burke, P Carlill, S Firth,
B Flynn, M France-Mir, J Lennox,
K Renshaw and K Ritchie

1

Appeals Against Refusal of Inspection of Documents

2

There were no appeals.
Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public
There were no exemptions.

3

Late Items

4

There were no late items.
Declaration of Interests
There were no declarations of interest.

5

Apologies for Absence and Notification of Substitutes
The following apologies were noted:
Cllr Caroline Gruen (Cllr Karen Renshaw attended as a substitute)
Cllr Kamilla Maqsood (Cllr Jess Lennox attended as a substitute)
Cllr Dianne Chapman (Covid-related absence)
Cllrs Jonathan Pryor, James Lewis and Mary Harland (Executive Members)
sent apologies in relation to item 10
Aaron Linden (Information Governance Manager) in relation to item 10

6

Minutes - 28 March 2022.
Members noted that the items highlighted in minutes 71, 72 and 74 had been
reflected in the draft work programme included else where on the agenda.
RESOLVED –
That the minutes from 28 March 2022 be approved as an accurate record.
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Monday, 25th July, 2022

Page 5

7

Terms of Reference
Members considered the Terms of Reference for the five Scrutiny Boards as
agreed by Council at the Annual General Meeting on 26 May 2022.
It was noted that functions relating to Civic Enterprise Leeds, which currently
sit within the remit of the Environment, Housing and Communities Scrutiny
Board, may be transferred into the remit of the Strategy and Resources
Scrutiny Board later in the year.
RESOLVED –
That the Terms of Reference be noted.

8

Co-Opted Members
Members noted the provision to appoint co-opted members. It was further
noted that co-opted members have not historically been appointed to the
Board on a permanent basis.
RESOLVED –
That the provision to co-opt members be noted but not exercised at this stage
of the municipal year.

9

2021/22 Financial & Treasury Management Outturn Reports
In introducing the 2021/22 Financial Outturn and Treasury Management
Outturn reports it was noted that the Scrutiny Board has a standing
commitment to monitor financial health and performance throughout the
financial year, to identify emerging issues and to bring forward any
appropriate recommendations to the Executive in this regard.
As part of this function, at the start of the new municipal year, the Scrutiny
Board receives the annual Financial Outturn and Treasury Management
Outturn reports.
The following were in attendance for this item:
Cllr Debra Coupar – Executive Member
Victoria Bradshaw – Chief Officer, Financial Services
Victoria Bradshaw introduced the report, noting that the appended outturn
reports would be considered by Executive Board on 22 June 2022. The Chief
Officer confirmed that the 2021/22 end of year position was a net underspend
of £1.5m. She highlighted that the underspend followed an overspend of
£27.8m as a result of pandemic related pressures.
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Monday, 25th July, 2022

Page 6

It was noted the Treasury Management report reflects that there are currently
no concerns about staying within authorised or operational limits.
The Board discussed the impact of the current economic situation on the
budget and noted future risks including rising energy prices, general
inflationary rises and increases in interest rates.
An invitation to a remote training session on 4 July 2022 10-11.30am has
been circulated to all Board members. Victoria will brief members in more
detail on the key assumptions in the LCC budget and the potential impact
of external factors such as inflation. It is hoped this will be of assistance to
members ahead of the Board’s consideration of the Medium-Term
Financial Strategy in the Autumn.
The Chair asked that the thanks of the Board be passed onto the finance
team for the robust management of a very complex budget during what
has been a challenging year.
Board members considered the cost and response to disrepair cases and
the increased borrowing costs associated with the capital programme.
Victoria Bradshaw committed to providing further information about the
capital schemes being funded through prudential borrowing in 2022/23
and the background to variations in levels of ward-based initiative
allocations.
Cllr Coupar advised the Scrutiny Board that work is ongoing to mitigate some
of the risks posed by disrepair cases now covid restrictions on working
arrangements have been removed. While disrepair falls within the remit of
another Scrutiny Board, it was suggested that members of the Strategy and
Resources Scrutiny Board be sighted on the disrepair action plan to provide
reassurance that steps are being taken to address the pressure on the
budget.
Thanks were noted for the work of Eve Roodhouse, Phil Cole and their staff
for in ensuring the effective distribution of Covid-related grants.
The Board noted the pressures on the budget within Children’s Services, as
well as highlighting the budget pressures created by lost income during the
pandemic in directorates such as city development.
Concern was expressed about the extent to which the Scrutiny Board
receives information about ‘business as usual’ savings. Victoria Bradshaw
responded by noting that such decisions are taken by officers within the
Council’s delegation scheme. The savings proposals that are considered by
scrutiny are those that would require consultation and/or have a significant
impact on service delivery, local communities or staffing structures.

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Monday, 25th July, 2022

Page 7

Victoria confirmed that the £1.5m underspend will be transferred to the
General Fund.
RESOLVED –

10

-

That the report be noted.

-

That the disrepair action plan be circulated to Strategy and Resources
Scrutiny Board members for information.

-

That the following information be provided by the Chief Officer for
Financial Services:
a) Details of the capital schemes being funded through
prudential borrowing in 2022/23
b) Context for variations in levels of ward-based initiative
allocations set out in appendix 5c of the supplementary pack.

Performance Report
Members considered the report of the Directors of Resources and City
Development, which set out key performance data for 2021/22 as it relates to
the remit of the Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Board.
The following were present for this discussion:
Cllr Debra Coupar – Executive Member
Tim Rollett – Intelligence and Policy Manager
Andy Dodman – Chief Officer, Human Resources
Kieron Dennett – Head of Procurement and Commercial Services
Members were asked to note that this would be the last report that presents
performance relating to the Best Council Plan priorities. Future reports will be
based on the Three Pillars contained in the Best City Ambition.
A review of performance reporting is currently taking place in light of the
recent adoption of the Best City Ambition. Tim Rollett advised the Board that
he is intending to discuss the initial outcomes of the performance review
(revised KPIs and proposed changes to the report format) with Scrutiny Board
Chairs.
It was noted that performance data highlights concern about the time taken to
respond to statutory information requests including subject access, FOI and
EIR requests. Tim Rollett reported that significant work is ongoing to address
these concerns. A phased approach is being taken to improving systems and
processes in conjunction with IDS.
Board members were informed that Aaron Linden (Information Governance
Manager) will be meeting with the Chair to discuss how statutory information
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Monday, 25th July, 2022

Page 8

requests are processed and the Council’s approach to FOI requests has been
scheduled to come back to the Board at a later date.
The Board welcomed further reductions in the gender pay gap but asked for a
more detailed breakdown of gender balance in different service areas when
performance is next reporting (in January 2023). Members supported ongoing
work to improve the diversity of the workforce.
Concern was raised about the reduction in employment in the creative
industries in 2019 and 2020. Members sought further advice about why
Birmingham was the only Core City not to see a drop in the number of
employees in creative industries. A query was raised as to whether there is
any evidence to suggest that a recovery in these figures is anticipated.
The Scrutiny Board noted that the Council is intending to appoint a Freedom
to Speak Up Guardian and sought more information about how this will work
in practice. It was also noted that a Head of HR Projects (Diversity) will be
appointed to further increase the pace of change in this area.
Andy Dodman identified five priority areas for HR and agreed to provide the
Board with the action plan that sits beneath the five ‘pillars.’
Members explored the reduction in apprenticeships reflected in the
performance data and requested further information about how much of the
Apprenticeship Levy would be returned to government as a result in a shortfall
in anticipated starts.
Concern was raised about the proportion of sickness absence attributable to
mental health conditions during the reporting period. The Board requested
further detail about how this is reflected across services with a view to
determining whether the Board should consider more detailed work in this
area.
Members queried whether a comparison can be made between the workforce
profile included at appendix 2 and the profile of other city-wide employers. In
response the Chief Officer for Human Resources updated the board on work
with anchor institutions which may enable such comparisons in future. It was
noted that it remains harder to make direct comparisons with employers in
some other sectors.
Members welcomed the increase in the percentage of orders places with
SMEs. However, the Board noted a slight reduction in the percentage of
orders placed with local suppliers and sought reassurance about what action
is being taken to maximise the impact of the ‘Leeds pound.’
In response, officers advised the Board that efforts to address longstanding
challenges with extracting accurate information from procurement systems is
thought to be part of the reason for the change in reported performance. The
Board was reassured that the Council does look for opportunities to support
local businesses through its procurement processes. However, it was noted
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Monday, 25th July, 2022

Page 9

that while the proportion of spend with Leeds suppliers has decreased, the
actual value of spend with Leeds suppliers has increased. It was also noted
that some of the additional spend with non-Leeds supplies relates to large
capital projects and increasing costs associated with Looked After Children
noted earlier.
In considering the performance data relating the ICT Service Desk, it was
noted that the IDS strategy is scheduled for detailed consideration by the
Board in July.
Similarly, the Board noted that performance relating to customer contact
remains a priority for the Board and is due for more detailed consideration
later in the municipal year.
Members welcomed a reduction in complaints, and the ongoing work to
improve performance in the contact centre. However, in the context of the
review of performance reporting, call waiting times were identified as a
potential new KPI.
The Board emphasised the need to identify how to measure the customer
experience of contact with the council so that can be more accurately
reflected that within performance reporting.
RESOLVED –
-

That the report and the appended performance data be noted.

-

That more detailed information about gender balance in different service
areas be brought to the January 2023 Scrutiny Board meeting.

-

That additional information be circulated to the Board to update members
on the most current trends in employment in creative industries.

-

That the Chief Officer (Human Resources) provides the Board with:
a) The action plan that sits beneath the five priority areas identified in
Appendix 1 section 6.
b) Further information about the proportion of the apprenticeship levy
that will have to be returned to government due to a shortfall in
starts.
c) Detail of sickness absence attributable to mental health conditions
broken down by service area.

Cllr Coupar left the meeting at the end of this item.
11

Procurement Update
The Board received a report from the Director of Resources, which provided
information on procurement processes, the terms and conditions upon which
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Monday, 25th July, 2022

Page 10

contracts are entered into and the Council’s approach to contract
management and performance management.
In attendance for this discussion:
Kieron Dennett – Head of Procurement and Commercial Services
Attention was drawn to the information in the report, which sets out the
procurement processes that must be followed depending on the value and
complexity of contracts. Members were asked to note legal requirements in
relation to Contract Procedure Rules, which require the use of the Council’s
standard terms and conditions. The circumstances where non-Council terms
and conditions might be used were also outlined.
It was confirmed that Chief officers are responsible for contract management.
The benefits of good contract management were noted, including encouraging
innovation, avoiding unnecessary costs and helping to identify savings.
The Board was advised that the Constitution is to be updated to reflect
responsibility for setting policy in respect of contract management as a
function of the Director of Resources.
Contract management was highlighted as a key area of concern for the
Board. In response, Kieron Dennett advised the Board that a new Contract
Management module will shortly be made available on YORTender3. It will be
compulsory to complete this for all new contracts over £10,000 and existing
contracts will be transitioned according to priority. This will act as a contract
management plan and allow access to information that will be useful for
contract management reporting.
Members were further advised that best practice in contact management is
being reviewed in the Council, and elsewhere, to assess how this can be
replicated across all contracts.
The Board sought clarification as to how the procurement system can help
support local SMEs in being able to bid for contracts, in the context of Council
ambitions to deliver inclusive growth.
The Board was advised that Executive Board would be considering proposals
to establish a social value fund, which aims to use the procurement system as
a lever to support community initiatives and projects with social value. The
contribution sought would vary according to the size, nature of the
organisation and locality – the greatest contribution would be paid by large
suppliers based outside Leeds.
Members questioned how officers will review the ‘asks’ in procured contracts
and how the Council will be able to ensure that contract management is taking
place once the new module comes into effect. Officers responded by advising
members that one of the fields on the module includes requiring internal
annual reviews of the contracts, including the Council’s requirements.
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Monday, 25th July, 2022

Page 11

The Board was assured that any contract over £10,000 will go onto the new
system and it will be possible to see whether the e-module has been
completed. In the initial stages of roll out it is intended that regular reports will
be provided to directorates to provide an overview of the modules completed
for new contracts.
PACS will also support services to review existing contracts. This process will
start with the top 20 contracts for a service in terms of value, to ensure
appropriate contract management is in place and at least an annual review of
the contract is taking place.
Responding to a query regarding ‘due diligence’ at the start of any
procurement process, Kieron updated Board members on the outcome of the
LGA Peer Review into procurement. He noted the positive feedback about the
early stages of the procurement processes and the recommendation that
improvement activity focuses on contract management in the medium term.
It was agreed that a report for Corporate Governance and Audit Committee on
the progress in delivering actions identified following the LGA peer review will
also be shared with the Strategy & Resources Scrutiny Board.
Contract flexibility was discussed with members, who queried the scope to
adapt existing contracts when faced with changing local demands. Board was
assured that some degree of flexibility should be available to vary all
contracts, though subject to the value/scope of the requested change and the
practicalities (e.g. could the supplier actually deliver the extra supplies
requested).
RESOLVED –

12

-

That the contents of the report, and the further advice provided, is noted.

-

That a report being prepared by the Head of Procurement and
Commercial Services for the Corporate Governance and Audit
Committee, on the outcomes of the LGA peer review, is also shared with
the Strategy & Resources Scrutiny Board.

Sources of Work
Members noted the report and discussed the sources of work in conjunction
with item 12 (Work Programme).
RESOLVED –
That the report be noted,

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Monday, 25th July, 2022

Page 12

13

Work Schedule
The Scrutiny Board considered the Work Programme.
Zero-Tolerance Statement
In 2021/22 the Scrutiny Board requested that a statement be drafted
summarising its conclusions in relation to an approach of zero-tolerance to
racism and that this should then be provided to the Executive Board member
for her consideration.
It was noted that representatives of the BAME staff network had been
consulted on the proposed wording, as had relevant officers.
Concern was raised about how aspects of the statement reflect the way in
which the disciplinary and grievance processes interact. Further clarification
was sought about how matters potentially linked to multiple protected
characteristics will be appropriately identified, and how the Council will ensure
historic issues of concern will be captured in any process.
It was suggested informal routes prior to grievance should be more clearly
highlighted in the statement. Specifically, it was suggested reference should
be made to the importance of engaging in the ACAS early conciliation
approach.
The potential role of the new Freedom to Speak Up Guardian was highlighted.
Members suggested further information should be provided at a future
meeting about how that role will work in practice.
Concern was raised more generally about the use of the term ‘BAME’ given
Government guidance suggesting the term risks homogenising a diverse
group of people. However, it was reiterated that it is for the staff network to
determine how they wish the Board to refer to them.
It was noted the statement is not – nor intended to become - a policy
document. It is a summary of the discussions of the 2021/22 Scrutiny Board,
which the previous board had recommended be provided as a form of advice
to the Executive member.
It was agreed that Cllrs Firth and Burke can provide any proposed
amendments to the Principal Scrutiny Advisor for further consideration.
The Chair reiterated the need to provide advice in a timely way to decision
makers given previous discussions at the Board.
Items for Further Consideration
It was suggested that the Scrutiny Board should schedule a debate about how
the Council consults and communicates with the public. This should include
how the organisation identifies which format to adopt for different
consultations, how consultations are co-ordinated with partners such as
WYCA and levels of engagement generated by different consultation formats.
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Monday, 25th July, 2022

Page 13

Members welcomed the fact that Leeds2023 would be subject to further
consideration by the Board. It was requested that the future item consider the
job opportunities that might arise from Leeds 2023 and how the Council can
ensure people from Leeds are able to access any opportunities in line with the
aspirations of the inclusive growth policy. Members were also keen to
understand what is anticipated to be the legacy of Leeds2023 and how the
Board might be able to assess whether that has been achieved.
The Board reiterated that members are keen to engage with the West
Yorkshire Mayor to understand how the new regional role is operating after
the first year of devolution.
It was noted that it is important to have representation throughout the
meetings from Executive Members, given the required parity of esteem
between Scrutiny and the Executive set out in the constitution.
The Principal Scrutiny Advisor was requested to update the work programme.
RESOLVED –

14

-

That Cllrs Firth and Burke provide any proposed amendments to the zerotolerance statement to the Principal Scrutiny Advisor with a view to
finalising the document ahead of submission of the advice to the
Executive Board member.

-

That the work programme is updated to reflect the requests documented
under all items included within the minutes of this meeting.

Date and Time of Next Meeting
The next public meeting of the Scrutiny Board will take place on 25 July 2022
at 10am. A pre-meet for Board members will take place at 9.45am.

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Monday, 25th July, 2022

Page 14

Agenda Item 7
Report author: Stephen
Blackburn/Nichola Stephens

0

Tel: 0113 37 84571

Digital Strategy Update
Date: 25 July 2022
Report of: Chief Digital and Information Officer
Report to: Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources)
Will the decision be open for call in?

☐ Yes ☒ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☐ Yes ☒ No

What is this report about?
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions


This report will outline the contents of the new digital strategy for the City that is currently
being finalised and how it will support the Best City Ambition and three pillars of Inclusive
Growth, Health & Wellbeing, and Zero Carbon.



It will detail the digital transformation work that is underway to transform how the Council in
partnership with the Leeds Health and Care Partnership (LHCP) will increasingly improve
how it collects, shares, and uses data, and how it will utilise the latest technology to deliver
21st century services.



It will outline the planned programme of innovation and how it will align with the digital
strategy and digital roadmaps that are being drawn up by the Digital Change Team for each
service area.

Recommendations
a) Members are asked to support the approach being outlined in the digital strategy, the digital
transformation approach, and the innovation programme.
b) Agree any specific Scrutiny Board actions that may arise from this report.
c) Continue to provide oversight of the broader digital work being delivered by IDS by
continuing to receive update reports at this Board.

Page 15

Why is the proposal being put forward?
1 Digital solutions and technologies can radically improve how services are delivered in Leeds.
There are of course challenges that will need addressing to realise a more sustainable,
equitable Leeds that we all aspire to. However, these should be viewed in relation to the
opportunities that exist that will enable people, businesses and communities to prosper.
2 It should be noted that this is not about replacing all analogue services with digital ones. It’s
about adopting a ‘Digital First but not Digital Only’ approach that recognises that not everyone
will want to access services via a digital channel all of the time, and that any digital offer will be
complimentary to existing channels such as face-to-face and over the telephone.
3 The use of digital technology, to support in the delivery of our services, offers many
opportunities that we must encourage and embrace. This is not simply about moving services
online however, we must also transform how we work. Bringing the digital services of the
council and LHCP together to create the Leeds Integrated Digital Service (IDS) is the start of
this digital transformation, enabling us to provide a more joined up digital offer for the people of
Leeds.
4 Whilst IDS has ambitious plans to digitally transform the organisation, it should be recognised
that there are significant recruitment and retention pressures being felt across the wider digital
sector that is impacting the council. There are current proposals in place to increase the number
of roles in IDS by over 110. These jobs are predominantly on the Leeds City Council structure
with a smaller number being on the Integrated Care Board (ICB) for Leeds. Funding of over
£3m has been made available from capital receipts to focus on delivering priority one projects
and the application and rationalisation programme of work.
5 It is recognised that recruiting to this number of new posts, in the current climate, is going to be
a significant challenge. In response to this, we have identified partners who can provide skilled
people to flexibly fill gaps as and when required. This ‘elastic’ approach to temporarily back-fill
vacancies provides the most cost effective and flexible approach to enable existing staff to be
redeployed where required whilst ensuring business continuity.
6 As outlined in the table below, we will focus on people, processes and technology to digitalise
the organisation where we rethink existing manual processes and services, to not only digitise
them (e.g. moving from paper to digital), but also re-invent them.

Page 16

TOP THREE CITY DIGITAL PRIORITIES
7 The ambition to transform how services are delivered and consumed is tall, and whilst the new
digital strategy (summarised below) provides a broad, high level steer, three key areas have
been identified as priorities that require immediate focus and are being treated as priorities:
8 System Flow: System Flow is concerned with ensuring seamless transfers of care for patients
between care settings, wherever they may be. In Leeds however, the main centre of attention
has been on transfers of care out of hospital. This narrower focus is mainly due to system-wide
pressures and high waiting lists.
9 At a basic level, transfers of care do take place as business as usual. This programme,
however, seeks to transform the patient and staff experience, and ensure that transfers of care
from one setting to another are safe, seamless and efficient. It has a key interdependency with
shared care records and data flows; however, it should be noted that to achieve transformation
in this area it will need to clearly articulate the business problem it is seeking to address, define
it as an outcome, baseline deliverables and take a people-centred approach.
10 Core Business Transformation: This is a major change programme which is seeking to
replace ageing applications and infrastructure covering finance, procurement, HR and payroll
with modern, state-of-the-art, digitised solutions that work seamlessly together and facilitate
self-service.
11 EY have been chosen as the preferred bidder to work with the council to bring industry practice
and experience, and who will work with colleagues in each functional area. They will establish
the current digital status focusing on people, processes, data and technology and agree a
strategic approach for digital transformation.
12 Security Operations Centre (SOC): A security operations centre supports the organisation by
monitoring, preventing, detecting, investigating, and responding to cyber threats 24/7, 365 days
per year. Like many organisations, the council would not be able to resource and run this type
of operation effectively itself, therefore the most cost effective and secure approach is to work
with a partner to deliver the service on our behalf.
13 A city-wide approach will be taken to encourage other organisations to sign up to the same
SOC agreement resulting in improved cyber security resilience across the city and deliver
economies of scale.

OTHER KEY PRIORITIES
14 Leeds has a strong healthcare sector that has resulted in strong healthtech and medtech
sectors. We are therefore uniquely placed to build on the Leeds Care Record that has
revolutionised how health data is shared across the healthcare system, and apply for further
funding that supports our innovation and transformation ambitions in this area.
15 Shared Care Record: Leeds prides itself on making the most of new ways of delivering health
and care for our populations combined with innovating technology. A great example of this, is
the Leeds Care Record which united the city to one vision – sharing information to improve
care. In the past ten years it has progressed from an idea to a mature digital care record which
shares relevant data with GPs, hospital, community, hospices, mental health and social care safely and securely. It is hugely successful in ensuring that around 10,000 clinical and care staff
have regular access to up to date information about a person they are caring for.

Page 17

16 Leeds is in a good position to take advantage of evolving digital technology that supports the
progression towards an integrated health and care system and delivers against national
mandates to improve data sharing that transform care and digitise care settings. The City has
agreed to evolve the Leeds Care Record Project further towards an enhanced Shared Care
Record, by closing down the old project and launching a new Shared Care Records
Programme. This is not just a name change – it will involve improvements in who can access
the information, what they can see, and the technologies involved.
17 A new Shared Care Records Board has been established for Leeds and is in the process of
setting up programme governance and scoping the full work programme to transform Shared
Care Records for Leeds. The Board is chaired by Jason Broch (Chief Clinical Information
Officer) with support from Nichola Stephens and Kathryn Jeffreys from IDS.
18 Social Care Records: On 1 December 2021, the government published their ‘People at the
Heart of Care: adult social care reform’ white paper which details plans to accelerate the
adoption of technology and using the full potential of technology to support people’s lives and
aspirations. It also pledges to ensure at least 60% of social care providers have a digitised care
record that can connect to a shared care record in place by March 2023 and 80% by March
2024.
19 Funding has been released to Integrated Care Systems (ICSs) to facilitate this digitisation and
Leeds has bid for approx. £305k to support feasibility of implementation of falls monitoring
devices, digitisation of 20 registered care providers with wrap around project management,
infrastructure, procurement, training and IG support in year 1. Take up by 20 providers will allow
Leeds to hit the 60% target. Further funding will be applied for, for year 2 of the project.
20 Additional funding will be released to help digitised social care providers access a regional
shared care record within 6 months of full digitisation.
21 Bids: The Strategy & Innovation Team keep abreast of funding opportunities as they
materialise and submit bids to NHS England and local government in line with national and
regional schemes being announced.
22 A bid for digitising of social care has been submitted for the sum of £305k in the first year, with
an opportunity to submit a further bid in 2023/24. Additionally, a £200k bid to support the IDS
innovation programme was successful and £125k bid to support the shared care record
programme has also been secured.
23 The team are currently submitting additional bids to support a variety of digital schemes for
Leeds.

LEEDS DIGITAL STRATEGY
24 A new City Digital Strategy is currently being finalised. It is a high-level document that outlines
the measures that will be taken to assist with addressing city challenges, underpinning Leeds’
Best City Ambition.
25 As introduced in Best City Ambition, the strategy adopts a four-stage ‘life course’ approach,
Starting Well, Living Well, Working Well and Ageing Well, that clearly articulates the
opportunities and challenges at every stage of a person’s life and how digital can support them
throughout their lives. For the purposes of the strategy, Living Well and Ageing Well have been
combined.

Page 18

26 Whilst the strategy is focused on Leeds, its people, and services, it is written in the context of
national policies and strategies that focus on the wider challenges facing the UK and which will
have a significant impact on our plans such as the NHS Long Term Plan, the UK National Data
Strategy and the UK Government’s Technology Code of Practice.
27 The following sections summarise the main sections of the strategy that will be published by the
end of July 2022.
28 Starting Well: We will use modern digital technologies to understand the challenges associated
with population health and education and how they affect individuals from birth through to old
age. Understanding health and economic conditions prevalent across Leeds will help reduce
inequalities through providing more relevant and impactful services to families. For example, the
improved collection and analysis of data about the population of Leeds, their needs, and their
health that leads to support the design and commissioning of council services and health
initiatives.
29 We will work increasingly with schools, colleges and community groups to encourage children
and young people to get involved in after school activities, code clubs and digital innovation
work that helps develop their digital skills and get them interested in the technology sector. We
will promote the breadth of opportunities the sector offers, and ensure that they acquire workready digital skills from an early age.
30 Living and Ageing Well: We will implement intelligent and automated processes that make
services more efficient, convenient and joined up, and that are designed around the individual
and their needs. For example, we will build an information sharing approach that is consentbased and person-centred to ensure their data and information can follow people regardless of
which organisation and/or service they are engaging with.
31 We will use data to understand the challenges and inequalities being faced by the people of
Leeds, and share this intelligence with partners to define and deliver effective, personalised
services that support people to live good and healthy lives.
32 Working Well: We will build on existing collaboration across workforces in all sectors by
improving information flow between organisations and supporting the city’s inclusive growth
ambitions.
33 A thriving digital community, modern infrastructure and skilled workforce will attract new and
established businesses to invest in Leeds improving opportunities for the city and people of
Leeds. Taking a people-centred approach to service-design, we will deliver a co-ordinated
innovation network and community that champions Leeds as a city of innovation excellence. We
will encourage the testing and trialling of new technology in a real-world environment that both
supports local businesses and addresses city challenges.
34 Digital Foundations: Whilst the strategy outlines the ambitions for digital services and
technologies in Leeds, to deliver these, we need to get the basics right. Five digital foundations
have been outlined that set the baseline for which the rest of the strategy is built on and will
ensure that our ambitions are grounded, achievable and inclusive:
35 Data management, use and access: Data underpins everything we do. It is a valuable
resource that has the power to revolutionise how businesses are run and services are
delivered. It’s important however, that when collecting, using, storing, disposing, or sharing
personal data, it is managed appropriately and within an information governance framework that
instils confidence and is in line with data protection laws.

Page 19

36 The Chief Data Officer for IDS will oversee the creation and delivery of a new Leeds Data
Strategy. Aligned with the National Data Strategy, it will identify where current data gaps exist
and outline opportunities and initiatives that will benefit the city.
37 We will expand the Office of Data Analytics which brings together data science expertise and
technologies resulting in improved data intelligence, decision making and service delivery.
38 Connectivity and infrastructure: Protecting our data and information is of paramount
importance. To ensure data and systems are protected from any threats (cyber or physical),
deliberately or otherwise, we will deliver a 24/7 365 security operations centre that will prioritise
the safety and security of people's data and be accessible by any organisation across Leeds.
39 We will follow a ‘Cloud First/Multi-Cloud’ approach that delivers best value for money, best
technological approach, and the highest security standards. We will take an open standards
approach for all software developments to ensure the maximum potential for systems
integration and interoperability.
40 21st century connectivity and infrastructure provide the backbone for world-class service
delivery and supports our ‘connected place’ ambitions. The council is working closely with its
Full Fibre network partner BT, to provide gigabit capable fibre to 1,400 council buildings and
other public sector buildings (e.g. NHS and schools). Furthermore, it will enable up to 90% of
homes and businesses to access super-fast broadband by 2026, and supports the build out of a
5G network providing faster mobile connectivity across the district.
41 Additionally, the installation of the Leeds Wireless Innovation Network (Leeds WIN), that
supports the collection of real-time data from devices, is now complete and is being used by
innovators across the city and by the council to test temperature, air quality and footfall sensors.
42 Digital inclusion: The barriers to digital inclusion for many people are complex and link to
wider factors beyond the common issues of lack of skills, motivation or access to a device. We
will address these barriers to ensure that everyone in Leeds has equal opportunity to use digital
tools, technology and services in the right way for them.
43 Through further investment in the city’s flagship 100% Digital Leeds programme and by working
collaboratively through partnerships and networks, we will continue to build a co-ordinated and
connected digital inclusion ecosystem in more communities where people can gain the
motivation, skills and confidence to get online.
44 Digital skills: We take a life-long learning approach that will ensure everyone in Leeds has the
right skills to access services in a way that suits their needs, and that digital channels will be
accessible, well designed and so easy to use that they become most people’s preference. It is
important however, that we adopt a ‘Digital First but not Digital Only’ stance that recognises that
not everyone will want to access services via a digital channel all of the time and that any digital
offer will be complimentary to existing channels.
45 In addition to supporting improving digital skills of the public and the wider workforce, it is
important that our own workforce has the requisite skills to facilitate the digital transformation
that the organisation requires. A digital academy will be created that will upskill staff in areas
such as data intelligence, cyber security and cloud.
46 Digital and data ethics: Data is easier to collect than ever before and technology is developing
so quickly that it is often difficult to keep pace. It’s therefore important that as these new
technologies become increasingly prevalent and are introduced more widely, that we have a
thorough understanding of them. Just because something can be done using technology,
doesn’t mean to say it should be.
Page 20

47 We will develop data and digital ethics principles that provide checks and balances for any use
of data, or introduction of new technology, and draw upon expertise from across the City to
provide additional support and scrutiny. Leeds is already a champion of the “tech for good”
approach by taking a person-centric approach; embedding strong governance procedures will
support the approach that Leeds is regarded as the best destination for anyone who wants to
deliver services ethically and equitably.
DIGITAL INNOVATION PROGRAMME
48 The pandemic has highlighted that when we need to move at pace and deliver digital
transformation, we can succeed. Projects that may have traditionally taken months or years,
were delivered in weeks or even days.
49 IDS provides digital services and support for both LCC and LHCP, and will oversee a
programme of innovation that is strategically aligned with the Best City Ambition and three
pillars of Health & Wellbeing, Carbon Zero and Inclusive Growth, and that takes its steer from
the City Digital Strategy and Service Digital Roadmaps.
50 It is important however, that a co-ordinated approach to innovation is taken. A collaborative and
joined-up approach will not only ensure that the best skills and capabilities are tapped into, but
also avoid duplication and repetition.
51 Any innovation activity must focus on one, or all, of the following:
-

Improves the services we deliver
Improves outcomes for people
Delivers efficiencies/savings

52 Technology is moving at a pace where it is often difficult to understand what works best.
Adopting an innovation approach to service delivery can therefore help us:
-

Identify the problems and issues that need to be addressed first
Understand how technology can facilitate improved outcomes
Take a systematic approach to how we transform our organisations to deliver 21st century
services

53 The Strategy & Innovation team will co-ordinate and have oversight of all digital innovation
activity across LCC and LHCP. Utilising a new innovation platform, it will also connect with other
activity that is taking place across the city to promote best practice, ensure a co-ordinated
approach, and promote the City as a ‘centre of innovation excellence’.
54 The innovation programme will be strategy and priority-led to ensure the right challenges are
receiving attention. It will focus on showcasing existing solutions and co-creating new and
innovative prototypes. It will facilitate the testing and trialling of solutions in real environments to
gain a better understanding of them, assist with forming business cases, and learn best practice
from industry experts. The innovation activity that will take place over the next 12 – 18 months
and be delivered both in the city centre and localities.
55 Digital Leeds Labs: These are an extension of our innovation lab workshops and take a
human-centred approach, co-designing prototype solutions to city challenges that have been
raised by the Digital Change Team and where no obvious solution currently exists. They involve
a wide variety of stakeholders including members of the public, service providers, academia,
suppliers and developers. Previous innovation labs have produced successful solutions such as
the ‘Leeds Bins App’ that informs people what to recycle and reminders of when to put their bins
Page 21

out, and ‘Leeds Social Housing Picker’ that helps tenants make informed choices when
submitting bids in for council houses.
56 Following the workshops the Strategy and Innovation Team will facilitate follow-up sessions with
key stakeholders to discuss the outcomes of the Lab and possible next steps.
57 Supplier Days: These are either technical or non-technical events that provide a platform for
industry experts and suppliers to showcase real case studies to decision makers and service
leaders. These are about presenting the ‘art of the possible’ where we can learn from best
practice elsewhere and consider implementation in Leeds. Whereas the Digital Leeds Labs
focus on challenges where there are no obvious solutions, these focus on how existing
solutions could support the council/LHCP digital transformation agenda.
58 The first Supplier Day will be held in the autumn and focus on Robotic Process Automation
which is concerned with using technology to automate and streamline existing manual
processes. Suppliers will present case studies focusing on healthcare and council challenges.
At least four suppliers days will be held per year focusing on a wide variety of use cases and
solutions.
59 Leeds Hackathon: These are single day, one-off sessions where a broader theme is focused
on, such as improving air quality or encouraging more active lifestyles. Suppliers, developers
and a variety of stakeholders, including members of the public, team up to ideate and co-design
a wide range of solutions that deliver new and innovative service prototypes.
60 The purpose of the day is to generate lots of innovation activity resulting in a number of
interesting ideas that can either be trialled after the event or further explored at a future date. It
is proposed that the Leeds hackathon will be an annual event scheduled as part of the Leeds
Digital Festival and will enable the council to engage with the wider Leeds digital community.
61 GovTech Leeds: These 6-month, longer-term innovation projects will take a deeper dive into
some of the City’s bigger challenges. They will follow a similar 2-phased approach (Discovery
and Development) taken by other successful innovation programmes such as, Scotland’s
CivTech, London’s Mayor’s Challenge and the UK Government’s GovTech Catalyst which
Leeds was involved in trialling temperature and humidity sensors in council houses.
62 IDS will set regular GovTech Challenges and invite participation from a wide variety of
suppliers. These will focus on areas where there is currently no obvious solution to the
challenge and where co-designing of a prototype product could:
-

Lead to a better understanding of the type of solution required
Lead to the further development of a new product that supports service delivery
Lead to a partnership with a supplier that generates income to support further innovation
Support local start-ups and SMEs

What impact will this proposal have?
Wards affected:
Have ward members been consulted?

☐ Yes

☒ No

63 The work that is being delivered and supported by the Integrated Digital Service is being done
so by strategic prioritisation. In addition to the key priority areas that have already been
identified at the start of this report, the digital strategy and digital roadmaps will provide a steer
for the City Digital Board to determine future priorities and those that are ripe for innovation.

Page 22

What consultation and engagement has taken place?
64 The development of the digital strategy included delivering 13 workshops, six of which were
predominantly targeted at the public and Leeds-based organisations, with the remining focusing
on council and healthcare colleagues.
65 The work outlined in this paper has been considered, reviewed and approved by the
appropriate council officer boards and Lead Member.
What are the resource implications?
66 The areas of work outlined in this report all have the aim of delivering more efficient services
and improving outcomes for the people of Leeds. The primary focus for the innovation work is to
identify how a more efficient use of data and technology can positively impact on resource
allocation, whilst maintaining or improving service delivery.
67 The delivery of projects is funded through existing funding and capital funding which is sourced
from Leeds City Council and the NHS. We also bid for money as outlined above.
What are the legal implications?
68 Decisions would not be subject to call-in and there are no specific legal implications or issues
relating to access to information.
What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
69 Risk management of individual projects is built into the delivery of all IDS work. Programme
governance includes regular reporting to IDS SLT, other leadership teams and senior
stakeholders, as well as annual reports to this Scrutiny Board.
Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars?
☒ Inclusive Growth

☒ Health and Wellbeing

☒ Climate Emergency

70 All of the work outlined in the report plays a key role in achieving the council’s ambition to build
a compassionate city, tackling poverty and reducing inequalities. Work is aligned with the Best
City Ambition and the Health and Wellbeing, Inclusive Growth and Carbon Zero pillars.

Options, timescales and measuring success
What other options were considered?
71 The update on the approach to the Digital Strategy is presented in response to a request form
the Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Board.
How will success be measured?
72 The digital strategy identifies a number of key priority areas and how they will positively impact
on people and businesses across Leeds. The IDS Strategy and Innovation Team will work
closely with other parts of IDS and service areas to ensure priority areas are being addressed
and positive outputs and outcomes are being delivered. Updates on strategy priority areas will
be provided at future Scrutiny Boards.
73 The governance and success will be managed by the Leeds Digital Board and the internal
Digital Board based on the priorities and outcomes we have been asked to deliver.

Page 23

74 The IDS Digital Change team will complete digital roadmaps for all service areas to outline
ongoing work and identify future priorities. Some of this work will filter through to become
innovation projects as outlined earlier. The Strategy & Innovation Team will work closely with
services to review the impact of the intervention.
75 It should be noted that not all innovation work will result in the successful delivery of a solution,
however there will always be positive learning taken from each exercise and workshop that
future ones will benefit from. Longer-term success will be realised through how services are
delivered more efficiently, how staff resources are allocated more effectively and how staff
morale is improved for example through doing less repetitive and more meaningful work.
What is the timetable for implementation?
76 The digital strategy has a 3-year timeframe however, it will be regarded as a ‘live’ document
that will be updated and amended as dictated by external factors. A comprehensive review of
the strategy will take place in 2024.
77 The innovation programme, as outlined in the innovation calendar (Appendix 1) is currently
planned over an 18 month timeframe, however as additional funding becomes available, this
will be augmented and extended.
78 Timeframes for the majority of the projects all have a final end date of March 2024.
Appendices
79 Appendix 1 – Innovation calendar
Background papers
80 None.

Page 24

APPENDIX 1 INNOVATION CALENDAR
JULY 2022

AUGUST 2022

IDS/Microsoft Technical RPA Supplier Day

SEPTEMBER 2022

OCTOBER 2022

Leeds Hackathon (part of Leeds Digi Fest)

Digital Leeds Labs

Super Connected Cities 2023

IDS Supplier Day – RPA

NOVEMBER 2022

DECEMBER 2022

Digital Leeds Labs

JANUARY 2023

FEBRUARY 2023
Digital Leeds Labs
IDS Supplier Day

MARCH 2023

APRIL 2023

Digital Leeds Labs

Digital Leeds Labs
GovTech Leeds (Discover Phase – 4 weeks)

MAY 2023

JUNE 2023

Digital Leeds Labs

Digital Leeds Labs

IDS Supplier Day

GovTech Leeds (Develop Phase – 12 weeks)

JULY 2023

AUGUST 2023

Digital Leeds Labs
IDS Supplier Day
SEPTEMBER 2023

OCTOBER 2023

Leeds Hackathon (part of Leeds Digi Fest)

Digital Leeds Labs
GovTech Leeds (Discover Phase – 4 weeks)

NOVEMBER 2023

DECEMBER 2023

Digital Leeds Labs

GovTech Leeds (Develop Phase – 12 weeks)

IDS Supplier Day

Page 25

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8

Report author: Graham Sephton/Mark
Mills
Tel: 0113 3787718 / 3789343

Report of Director of Resources
Report to Resources and Strategy Scrutiny Board
Date: 25 July 2022
Subject: Future Working Arrangements at Leeds City Council
Yes

No

Has consultation been carried out?

Yes

No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and
integration?

Yes

No

Will the decision be open for call-in?

Yes

No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

Yes

No

Are specific electoral wards affected?
If yes, name(s) of ward(s):

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number: 10.4(3)

Summary
1. Main issues



This report provides Board members with an update on the Council’s Future
Working programme, the latest phase of the long established change programme
that started with Changing the Workplace programme over 10 years ago.



It includes background information relating to previous Scrutiny enquiry around the
Council’s response to the Covid-19 pandemic.



There is a reminder about the Best Place to Work Pledge that we have made to all
front line and office based colleagues in 2021.



It provides an update on our most recent survey conducted in May 2022, which
outlines current working patterns, and seeks a view from Scrutiny Board members
around the council’s Hybrid working approach and potential next steps.



It gives an update on our work to right size the council estate, and some
opportunities we are looking to exploit around our zero carbon ambitions in the city.

2. Best Council Plan Implications (click here for the latest version of the Best Council Plan)


Ensuring that staff can work effectively underpins the delivery of the Best Council
Plan ambitions as does the provision, spread and flexibility of our buildings. In
particular our organisational and agile work policies, as well as changes to our
Page 27

estate supports the Best Council ambition to be ‘an efficient, enterprising and
healthy organisation’.


Our People Strategy 2020-25 sets out our ambition to be the Best Place to Work
with a clear focus on creating a great all round employee experience for all staff,
with the support of their leaders and managers working in a positive organisational
culture, driven by our council values.

3. Resource Implications


Investment is being made to ensure that buildings are fit for purpose and meet the
requirements of services and staff. This has so far primarily included investment
into Adams Court to accommodate staff being relocated from Hunslet Hall to allow
the later to be released from operational use, as well as investment into
collaboration spaces in Merrion House, Civic Hall and Apex House.



Investment into new video conference equipment is also being made to refresh all
the older kit which does not properly integrate with Microsoft Teams. This is an
important aspect given the importance of ensuring that hybrid meetings can take
place across our estate.

Recommendations
a) Resources and Strategy Scrutiny Board is asked to:
I. Note the contents of this report
II. Note the Best Place to Work pledge made to all staff.
III. Consider the results from the most recent Future Working Survey conducted
in May 2022, and feedback on the areas discussed in the report relating to
the ongoing implementation of Hybrid working across the council.
IV. Note the latest update on rightsizing the council Estate and how the Future
Working programme can contribute to our zero carbon ambitions across
the city.
1.

Purpose of this report

1.1

To provide Resources and Strategy Scrutiny Board with an update around Future
Working arrangements at Leeds City Council.

2. Background information
2.1 The Council has a long established Changing the Workplace (CTW) programme which
has provided opportunities for staff to work differently, with flexible and new ways of
working, investment in technology, estate rationalisation and cultural change. This has
focussed on both our City Centre Estate and key locality services and buildings. The
COVID-19 Pandemic and lockdown led to a further period of rapid change, as all
services were required to review their delivery models, and our long term commitment
and investment over previous years meant that we were well prepared and able to
respond.

Page 28

2.2 During the 2020/21 municipal year, Resources and Strategy Scrutiny Board received
regular updates around how the council had responded to the specific challenges faced
during the COVID-19 pandemic, the changes to the way people had worked, and how
this had further affected the use of our estate. This included services which were
mainly front line, those that were mainly office-based, and those with a mix. Scrutiny
looked at a range of related issues such as: service productivity and impact, staff
wellbeing, and whether colleagues had the necessary IT and kit to support effective
working.
2.3 A summary evidence report was presented to the Board’s March 2021 meeting. This
allowed members to review all the evidence shared during the year and to begin
looking at the longer term implications around future working arrangements at the
council.
2.4 In 2021, A Best Place to Work pledge was made for all 14,000+ council colleagues,
and a reminder of this is included in the next section of this report.
2.5 In addition to this, specific planning was undertaken regarding the 8000+ colleagues
who had predominanlty been working from home during Covid (classed as office based
workers). Such teams, with predominantly office based colleagues, were asked to
produce local plans for future working to recognise the unique and different service
they provide. They were asked to implement hybrid working arrangements that
successfully strike a balance across :

2.6



Individual staff preferences - around working patterns



Service needs – what customers and teams need



LCC resources – what the council can afford and provide

Over the last year, following the lifting of Covid and Government work from home
instructions, services have been gradually and systematically implementing these
new working arrangements, and we have seen more and more people returning to
offices and their Teamzones (their nominated service base)

3. Main issues
Best Place to Work pledge to all staff
3.1

The Covid pandemic changed the way many council staff work, and how we deliver
our services. There are also many other factors which continue to shape a different
approach e.g. customer behaviour, financial challenges, digital advances, the
climate emergency.

3.2

A commitment has been made to all staff – through a Best Place to Work Pledge.
The pledge applies to all staff – frontline, office based, community based, outdoor
workers, peripatetic, in and out patterns, working from home. Up to 7000 council
colleagues operate in front line roles, with a wide range of workplace environments,
and around 8000 are classed as office workers.
Page 29

3.3

All services continue to engage with colleagues in their teams to listen to current
experiences in relation to the pledge, and take action to improve the working
environment. Our aim is to provide a workspace for all staff that:
 Helps them to be their best
 Keeps them safe and well
 Is fun and productive
 Provides the right tools for the job
 Provides support and contact with managers and colleagues
 Is green, low carbon and low waste

3.4

A new depot at Newmarket Approach in Cross Green was opened in May. This
provides a new base for the Council’s Waste Management service and fleet of
refuse vehicles. This building sets a new standard for depot facilities and provides
some good principles that can be applied as over the coming years we upgrade
other existing depot facilities.

Return to the Office – findings from our most recent survey in May 2022
3.5

In May 2022 a review was carried out to understand the progress of staff returning
to their teamzone and how this was expected to change over the coming months.

3.6

An online survey was sent to all Chief Officers and their Heads of Service. A total of
111 teams were included in the analysis providing a comprehensive coverage of the
council’s services. The information requested from the survey was:






How many staff are classed as ‘office workers’ covered by the working from
home instruction during the pandemic
The average days per week that a colleague spends in their teamzone
An estimated percentage of staff in their teamzone on each day of the week
How the current arrangements impact performance
Anticipated change in teamzone attendance over the coming months

Headline results from the survey are shared below:
3.7 We have a picture of how much time people are spending in the workplace:


In teams where everyone/most are office based
Typically, they are spending around 2 days per week in the workplace.



In teams where few are office based
Typically they are spending 3 to 4 days per week in the workplace



In teams with a mix of office and front line
Typically, they are spending 2 to 3 days per week in the workplace



In our front line services and teams
They continue to spend vast majority of time in the workplace as before

Page 30

3.8 We also have estimates around the percentage of colleagues that are spending time in
their teamzones on different days across the week, and this can be seen in the graph
below:

3.9 There are large variations in the above estimates. As expected, they change
significantly by team, role, person and building, and we need this more granular level
data to make full sense of the information. We have produced a dashboard that allows
us to identify, understand and plan for these variations.
3.10
We have a view from senior leaders in services about how current arrangements
and working patterns are affecting performance. The overwhelming feedback has been
that service productivity has been maintained or enhanced.
3.11 Looking ahead to anticipated changing staffing levels in the workplace, senior
leaders also shared a view that:
By September 2022
 5% of teams estimated they would increase greatly
 30% of teams estimated they would increase slightly
 64% of teams estimated they would not change much
 1% of teams estimated they would decrease

In the next 12 months
 10% of teams estimated they would increase greatly
 46% of teams estimated they would increase slightly
 42% of teams estimated they would not change much
 1% of teams estimated they would decrease

Hybrid Working – our ongoing implementation

3.12 A set of principles (see table below) were established in spring 2021, with corporate
expectations in three important areas: People; Workspaces and places; Technology.
Page 31

3.13 All Chief Officers, for predominantly office based teams, were asked to use these as
a guiding framework when assessing and developing local plans. They have been used
over the last year to help implement our hybrid working arrangements. We feel they
remain sound working principles – and remain relevant and appropriate for our work
today.
People

Workspaces
and places

Technology








Staff continue to split time between home and workplace
Majority of people spend most of their time working from home
People who can’t work from home will be supported in the workplace
Everyone will have an agreed pattern, which can change
Everyone will spend regular time with their team in the workplace
We will have fewer but better used buildings



Everyone will have a Teamzone – a designated base where they can meet
with other members of their team



Majority of visits to the workplace will be for social interaction and collaboration
– in a remodelled space



50% of colleagues can be accommodated in the workplace at the same time



Individuals and groups will book space when they want to come into the
workplace – by planning ahead



Everyone will be welcome at a wide variety of locations



Everyone will have the kit they need to work at home, in the workplace or on
the go



All staff will have Microsoft teams



Hybrid meetings will provide a great user experience



Wider Microsoft 365 Rollout will bring longer term benefits

3.14 As we build on these and continue to refine and develop our Hybrid working
approach, there are several areas around which we are keen to seek Scrutiny Board
members views and feedback. They are set out below, for Board consideration, and
are areas that we feel it is important to discuss and agree a clear position around.
a) The Council will continue to support Hybrid working because it is effective
and as a modern, competitive employer, it helps us recruit and retain diverse and
talented people
b) Hybrid working will not compromise service delivery - if we need to be in, then
we need to be in. All services will agree clear expectations about being present in
the workplace – when and why – to ensure that a quality service is delivered.
c) We won’t have a single set working patterns for everyone (e.g. insist on a
blanket 2 days a week for everyone) – as the hybrid working model needs to flex by
team, role and individual
d) We will ask everyone to spend regular time in the workplace with their teams,
but we will more clearly define what we mean by regular and the types of activities
this should cover.
e) No one will be forced to work from home – colleagues will always have that
choice to come in, if that’s what works best
Page 32

f) We will expect people to have a work base in Leeds, regardless of where they
live. Appointments of people who cannot attend work in Leeds on a regular basis
will be made by exception. We will ask for senior level sign off on such
appointments, to ensure we give full and fair consideration.
g) We will remain flexible around our agreed working patterns – all colleagues will
do their best to attend the workplace if needed and called on, even at short notice.
This remains an area for further definition, which is likely to vary across roles.
3.15 We are working with our Trade Unions on a specific Hybrid Working Policy, which
will look to support the implementation of our approach in areas such as: Worker types
and role eligibility, working hours, availability, taking breaks, reasonable adjustments,
special and carers leave, manager contact, information governance, IT and kit, access
to homes.
3.16 Other existing policies may need to be reviewed alongside this e.g. Improving
Attendance, Flexible Working, Improving performance.

3.17 We will continue to do all we can to ensure that all staff have quality support and
positive experience as we further develop our Hybrid approach. This will focus on many
of the areas included highlighted in the 2021 Scrutiny Enquiry findings such as:





Guarding against a two-track workforce – at home/in office
Staff development and progression available to all
Building on the good health, and safety, wellbeing and mental health support.
All colleagues have the right equipment that they need, and we continue to
invest in this as required.
 Management and mentoring support is in place – for those new to role/less
experience.

Rightsizing our Estate and our zero carbon ambitions
3.18 Our Changing the Workplace programme has delivered significant change over the
last decade, and a new Estate Management Strategy has been prepared for the period
from 2021 to 2025. It was approved at Executive Board in November 2021
3.19 The Changing the Workplace programme has primarily focused on our City Centre
Estate as well as key locality buildings such as the Community Hubs, Albion House
and Kernel House/ Killingbeck Court. Since 2010, the Council has made good
progress in rationalising its estate and leveraging its assets to support the Council’s
priorities. This has to date focused on reducing the number of city centre buildings we
occupy from 17 down to the 3 we have today. However, there are many locality
buildings which have not seen this investment, and as such more traditional ways of
working have continued. Even where the CTW programme has been delivered,
opportunities still exist to embed further cultural change to get the full benefits of new
ways of working.
3.20 Ultimately, our spaces need to provide as much flexibility as possible in the ways
they can be used but also allowing staff the opportunity to work more flexibly across all
our buildings which brings with it the potential for reduced travel demand/ cost, time
savings, and more effective service delivery
Page 33

3.21 Decisions around which buildings should be considered for release take into
consideration the energy usage/ sustainability of the building, its condition and backlog
maintenance requirements, as well as its ability to provide appropriate solutions for
customers, services and staff. In addition, the future use and development potential for
sites, including their ability to be sold or leased is considered. It is also important to
note that further estate rationalisation will need to be supported by investment into our
retained buildings to remodel and ensure they are fit for purpose, meet service need
and maximise utilisation and capacity
3.22 New Hybrid technology and conferencing kit continues to be installed across the
estate, following a successfully trial. This is particularly important to ensure that hybrid
meetings are possible and that the user experience is positive and professional.
3.23 We continue our work to rightsize the office estate, to meet our target of reducing
from 640,000 sq. ft (at the beginning of 2020) by 50% to 320,000 sq. ft. We will have
fewer, but better used buildings. This is a continuation of our work over the last decade,
which has seen over 100 buildings closed, generating revenue savings in excess of
£8m and over £25m of capital receipts, and taking opportunities to transfer surplus
estate to the Council’s Investment Portfolio (e.g. St George House).
3.24

12 buildings have been closed since 2020:
-

Navigation House, Hunslet
Micklefield House, Rawdon
Hough Top Court, Pudsey
Bramley Housing Office
Shire View, Headingley
Shannon House, West Park
Middleton Complex, Middleton
Woodsley Green, Woodhouse
St George’s House, City Centre
South Pudsey Centre, Pudsey
Armley Grange, Armley
Osmondthorpe One Stop Centre, Osmondthorpe

3.25 The closure of more office locations is being worked through. This will reduce the
estate at a size of 367,000 sq. ft. As before, detailed consultations with services and
colleagues will take place to ensure that any changes do not have a negative impact
upon service delivery. We will work towards a minimum footprint utilisation rate of at
least 80%, and will flex the LCC occupied estate to shrink or grow to support this
usage, ensuring teamzones are of the right size/ scale and that we explore
opportunities for third party use of our buildings, including by community groups and
organisations.
3.26 We will continue discussions about further letting of space to partner organisations
in Merrion House and other buildings in our wider estate. Already the CCG, Leeds
Community Health, Police, Victim Support, Leeds Gambling Hub and NPS take space
in our core office buildings on a commercial letting basis. We will continuously monitor
Page 34

the utilisation rate, and further develop/replace our desk booking system to ensure that
it provides the required functionality for LCC and partner organisations.
3.27 Pilot projects continue to explore how we can create more flexible use of our locality
buildings including Community Hubs, Community Centres, Leisure Centres, Children’s
Centres, Libraries and Museums. This will not only seek to ensure we use our wider
estate as efficiently as possible, but also has the potential to make our estate more
affordable to operate and invest in, which has the potential to improve customer
experiences through ensuring that service users access better quality buildings, which
are more fit for purpose to support service delivery. Allowing more flexible use of our
buildings will provide scope for people to either use offices close to where they live or
close to where they are having meetings or undertaking site visits. This will reduce the
level of travel demand, both commuting or business travel.
3.28 The Council has a large number of Heritage properties within its estate. Whilst we
may not have the resource to retain and invest in all these important properties in the
longer term, it is recognised that some will need to be retained by the Council due to
their importance to the city. A review of our historic properties is beginning to identify
those which could be released, whilst also considering other models to deliver longer
term investment
3.29 The Council is working hard to reduce the carbon footprint of its estate and through
the public sector decarbonisation scheme has secured and delivered £25.3 million of
investment into our buildings, installing solar panels, LEDs , heat pumps, Building
Management Systems and insulation within our buildings. Further grant funding has
also been secured for this year, but our ambition to have a net zero estate can be
better supported through the reduction in the size of our estate, retaining in the main
our newer, more sustainable buildings and those that are easier to retrofit.

4 Corporate considerations
4.1 Consultation and engagement
4.1.1 Extensive consultation continues to take place with staff, teams and senior council
leaders. This will continue through the coming months as we implement and test out
our new working arrangements.
4.1.2 A Trade Union working group has been established and meets regularly to discuss
the Future Working programme.
4.1.3 A formal governance structure has been established for the programme, with
reporting through Best Council Design team group. This includes representatives for
all council directorates, working alongside the core team from Human Resources,
Asset Management and our Digital and Information Service.
4.1

Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration

Page 35

4.2.1 Equality Diversity Cohesion and Integration is at the heart of considerations about
the Council’s working practices, and an Equality Impact Assessment around Future
Working arrangements is ongoing.
4.2

Council policies and the Best Council Plan

4.3.1 Ensuring that staff can work effectively underpins the delivery of the Best Council
Plan ambitions as does the provision, spread and flexibility of our buildings. In
particular our organisational and agile work policies, as well as changes to our
estate supports the Best Council ambition to be ‘an efficient, enterprising and
healthy organisation’.

4.3 Resources, procurement and value for money
4.31 Investment is being made to ensure that buildings are fit for purpose and meet the
requirements of services and staff. This has so far primarily included investment into
Adams Court to accommodate staff being relocated from Hunslet Hall to allow the
later to be released from operational use, as well as investment into collaboration
spaces in Merrion House, Civic Hall and Apex House.
4.32 Investment into new video conference equipment is also being made to refresh all
the older kit which does not properly integrate with Microsoft Teams. This is an
important aspect given the importance of ensuring that hybrid meetings can take place
across our estate.
5

Legal implications, access to information, and call-in

5.31 There are no legal implications related to this report.

6

Risk management

6.1 Through our programme board and governance arrangements, all risks are identified
and regularly monitored, for each strand of the programme: People, Workspaces and
places, Technology.
7

Recommendations

7.1 Resources and Strategy Scrutiny Board is asked to:
i. Note the contents of this report
ii. Note the Best Place to Work pledge made to all staff.
iii. Consider the results from the most recent Future Working Survey conducted
in May 2022, and feedback on the areas discussed in the report relating to
the ongoing implementation of Hybrid working across the council.
iv. Note the latest update on rightsizing the council Estate and how the Future
Working programme can contribute to our zero carbon ambitions across
the city.

Page 36

8

Background documents1

8.1 None.

The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the council’s website, unless they
contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include published works.
1

Page 37

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
Report author: Libby Megson/Claire
Matson/Andrew Dodman
Tel: 0113 3790323

Workforce Recruitment and Capacity
Date: July 2022
Report of: Director of Resources
Report to: Scrutiny Board
Will the decision be open for call in?

☐ Yes ☒ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☐ Yes ☒ No

What is this report about?
This report outlines the current workforce challenges particularly in relation to recruiting talent
within the current labour market.
The report outlines the scope and scale of the work currently underway outlining both the short and
longer-term interventions.
The recommended approach is cognisant of the Council’s five-year People Strategy and our
aspiration to increase diversity within the workforce so that it represents the communities we serve.
This work best meets the needs of the City’s ambitions for inclusive growth, in terms of widening
recruitment pools and making our roles accessible for a wider communities to apply and flourish in
their roles.

Recommendations
To note the content of the report and workplan, recognising the scale of the work and that there are
a number of dependencies to progressing the activity particularly in relation to the recruitment
system development.
1. Why is the proposal being put forward?
1.1. In 2020 the Council launched the five-year People Strategy, which featured as an enabling
strategy of the Best Council Plan and will go on to support the City Ambitions. The People
Strategy presents a simple vision for Leeds City Council to be the ‘Best Place to Work’. The
strategy focuses on the full ‘employment life cycle’ and details what the best employee
experience would look and feel like. There is also a strong emphasis on the role our leaders
and managers should play and sets out clear expectations in relation to our values to help
strengthen organisational culture, behaviour and ambitions.
1.2. The Strategy recognised that interventions and actions would be required across the whole of
the employment lifecycle ranging from workforce planning, recruitment, selection, induction,
pay & benefits, development, wellbeing and progression. The People Strategy can be
viewed here.
1.3. However, over the past 24 months, in response to the pandemic and resultant budget
pressures, effort and resource was focussed predominantly on workforce health, safety, and
wellbeing, responding to the Financial Challenges and delivering new ways of flexible and
agile working. Whilst these interventions have directly contributed to the People Strategy, as
Page 39

we entered 2022/23 it is recognised that there are new and emerging workforce challenges
that now require prioritisation.
The Workforce Challenges
The pandemic, Brexit, socio-political and economic influences have impacted upon the labour
market and our ability to secure the right workforce capacity and capability to meet the needs of
our citizens.












Latest figures (up to and including April 2022) indicate that there are 32.7 million employees
in the UK, just slightly less than pre-Covid period of February 2020 (32.9 million). However,
the number of job vacancies in March to May 2022 rose to a new record of 1,300,000; an
increase of 20,000 from the previous quarter, and an increase of 503,900 pre Covid with
most industries now displaying record vacancies. This is a similar reflection across the Local
Government sector and the LGA have recently highlighted some short and long term actions
to address the workforce challenges ahead.
Despite the employment rate sitting at 75.6%, hours worked remain over 3% lower than two
years ago. One aspect of this has been the drop in the number of people working part-time,
there are now around 460,000 fewer people on fractional hours than there were two years
ago. By comparison, full-time employment is up by just over 33,000.
There was real concern as regards economic inactivity amongst younger people in the early
stages of the pandemic. Throughout the Covid-19 crisis there has also been a continued
increase in the number of people aged 50-64 who are economically inactive. The main
explanations for this likely relate to ill-health (either temporarily or long term).1
This situation is contributing to a decreasing talent pool, and the growing competitive nature
of the labour market. There is also evidence of skills mismatch with high growth in skilled
roles rather than entry level positions2.
Much has been written about ‘the great resignation’ as people re-evaluate their priorities
post pandemic and move to alternative employment or exit the labour market altogether.
The pandemic has also changed the way many people work, with the introduction of hybrid
working arrangements across many organisations, creating more choice and opportunities
for individuals to engage in a portfolio of different roles, locations and ventures.
There is an anxiety that the recent jobs recovery has not necessarily reached those most
disadvantaged groups, ethnic minorities, those with disabilities, and older people, who may
be struggling to join the labour market3.
Within this challenging context, it is recognised that many employers have responded
assertively to ensure the attraction and retention of their workforce talent. Examples have
included well publicised interventions such as sign-up bonuses, retention payments,
innovative recruitment campaigns, job personalisation, job redesign and role flexibility.

Local Context
In addition to the contextual and environmental labour market challenges, Leeds City Council is
also faced with other interdependent workforce issues to note:




Local recruitment challenges in a range of key roles/services, notably Home Care
Assistants, Care Assistants, Social Workers, LGV/HGV drivers, administration,
hospitality/catering and also from a number of more specialist/technical roles.
An aging workforce, with 42.7% of our extant workforce over 50 years old.
Growing customer demand in many services, adding pressure on individual/team workloads.

1

What do the latest data tell us about the UK labour market? - Economics Observatory
Source: Institute for Employment Studies - analysis of labour force survey Jul-Sep 2021
3
Source: Institute for Employment Studies - analysis of labour force survey Jul-Sep 2021
2

Page 40







A workforce that is not always as diverse and representative of the communities that we
serve.
High labour turnover and attrition in some areas with figures in the region of 20% in some
frontline services such as Leeds Building Services and Civic Enterprise Leeds. This is
reflective of the sectors nationally and not unique to the Council.
Service redesign and reconfiguration in some areas that can create new and different skills
gaps within the workforce (e.g. digitalisation, service redesign).
Multiple occupational staff groups and workforce demographics mean that we need to
consider and respond to a diverse range of intrinsic and extrinsic motivations and benefits to
secure the requisite breadth of talent needed.
A place-based organisation grounded in system-wide networks that requires a collaborative
and collegiate approach to the workforce so not to de-stabilise our other stakeholders and
partners (e.g. health and care sector for non-registered roles).

2. Response to the Challenges
2.1. Through delivery of the People Strategy, the Council is well placed to address these new
and emerging external and internal workforce challenges. The People Strategy advocates a full
employment lifecycle approach which will enable the authority to ensure it has the right people,
with the right skills, at the right time to deliver its ambitions. This “resourcing & talent cycle”
approach can be split into nine key interdependent components, as illustrated in the infographic
below.
2.2. The infographic places the overarching and established long term vision at its centre, listing
the described extant challenges to the left. The outcomes and accountabilities are listed on the
right. The overall general approach to delivering the nine individual components is set out at the
bottom.

2.3. Following the initial evaluation and review we have identified that we have a need to resolve
and embed some strong basic principles around talent and resourcing within our own
organisation and should concentrate on these workstreams before we are able to develop more
progressive and city wide workstreams. This report seeks to update on current developments.
Page 41

3. Key Issues/Outcomes
Since the Corporate Leadership Team agreed the work programme in February 2022, three key
workstreams have been developed – a) Entry Routes, b) Recruitment and Selection methodology,
and c) Workforce Planning, with associated interdependencies and links to wider priorities and
workstreams. A high- level overview outlining our priorities are included in figure 1.
Figure 1 – Workstream priorities for 2022

The following section of the report provides some additional context on key elements. A thread
which will run through all of the three work streams is branding and attraction.
3.1.

Branding and Attraction

Our ability to attract from a broader diverse talent pool is integral to this work. From inclusive and
compelling language in our advertising, to where we advertise, how we recruit, and what we offer.
Currently our approach to these elements is largely devolved and piecemeal and can fetter our
ability to assertively compete against private sector and other public sector partners.
We seek to innovate and diversify for the future. Specific work will include working with
communications specialists to develop a strong recruitment brand that clearly promotes our
Employer Value Proposition (EVP) to prospective candidates. We must also package and promote
the Council’s other extended benefits which are described below and link these to our embedded
values to improve attraction. Work was carried out prior to the pandemic to consider our
employment ‘offer’ and this now needs to be progressed further. This and the ever-changing
nuances of the labour market indicate the need for communications skills and support for the
recruitment & workforce capacity programme.
In addition, we are keen to review our approach to the job application process, ensuring the
candidate experience is expedient, positive and appropriate to the role the candidates are applying
for.

3.2.

Approaches to pay and benefits
Page 42

Within the current high inflation environment, pay is becoming increasingly competitive, with
candidates carefully considering their potential full pay, reward and benefits package aligned to a
role and organisation. The Council is cognisant of the importance of pay and benefits as part of its
remedy to the recruitment and talent attraction challenges. We remain committed to the National
Collective Bargaining Framework that negotiates the pay, terms and conditions for Local
Authorities. We are currently in the negotiation cycle and would expect to implement the pay award
without delay once collectively agreed. The Council also continues to currently uplift its payscale
pursuant to the Real (Leeds) Living Wage rate as a minimum. Furthermore, whilst working within
the collectively agreed pay and benefits framework, the HR Team is working closely with a number
of services to consider and implement other pay and retention solutions to address specific labour
market challenges, including market supplements, retention payments and benefits.
Whilst recognising the immediate importance of “take-home” pay, we continue to enhance the
wider benefits offer. A new benefits portal will be launched this summer as a retention and
recruitment measure. This will include new offers:




Discounts on major high street and on-line retailers
Salary sacrifice scheme on home and electronic goods
A low emissions car lease scheme

It will also stress the value to staff of more established arrangements:






Defined benefits pension scheme
Leave purchase scheme
Flexible working options and policies to support working parents and carers
Wellbeing and financial wellbeing support
Travel benefits, including bikes to work scheme.

By making new and existing offers more visible and prominent it is hoped that this will affirm the
value of LCC employment and strengthen our employer value proposition.
3.3.

Hard to recruit posts

Recent data analysis shows a number of key posts across the Council have been re-advertised or
had advert deadlines extended. Further analysis is underway with the working group that includes
representatives from across the organisation to better understand the cause and effect, and to
agree action plans.
Various options are being considered to help support managers with the approach to recruitment
including refreshing supporting material, identifying the most appropriate routes to promote roles,
using social media, modernising our selection techniques and considering job redesign to attract a
wider talent pool. An innovative example of the latter includes the Contact Centre changing working
patterns to specifically appeal to parents with school age children thus enabling them to undertake
work in between the school drop off/pick up times of day.
An interactive tool kit of creative recruitment and selections options is now being worked up and will
be shared with managers. The document highlights varied approaches to advertising, attraction,
selection and assessment that can be tailored to the roles require. A couple of specific examples
include;
The Adults and Health and Children and Families Directorates have developed and launched
recruitment pages, streamlined the application processes, increased the volume of assessment
centres delivered by the We Care Academy, information session through Facebook live have been
tested and maximising the benefit of the recent Ofsted rating as part of recruitment campaigns.
We have had additional success working with the job centre and job shops for entry level roles that
we had previously struggled to recruit. Business Admin Support are now utilising this route to
secure candidates.
Page 43

3.4.

Developing Entry Routes

As illustrated in Figure 1, a key priority has been the opening up of a wide and diverse range of
different and complementary entry points into LCC. Recent examples of specific interventions
include a pilot programme offered to undergraduates at three Leeds universities paid summer
internships. Placements are across a wider range of services and will run from July to September.
The approach will be evaluated with a view to offering something similar in future years if this is
successful. The Council’s Graduate Programme will be relaunched in line with the new academic
year to offer opportunities for both ‘hard to recruit’ posts and a more generic local government
graduate offer. Both provide an opportunity to develop our longer-term talent pipeline.
The apprenticeship route is strong, with 648 current live apprentices, across the Council including
schools. In the 21/22 financial year, levy ringfenced totalled £2,669,814, of which we committed
£2,194,764 between developing our own workforce and transfer of funds to supporting other
organisations.
Transfer funds can be given up to a maximum of 25% of our levy. Supporting a range of smaller
organisations to recruit through the apprenticeship scheme enables skills development to take
place where businesses would not normally be able to fund themselves. We are currently
supporting 53 apprentices, with a commitment to support a further 147 in the coming months. Of
our £600,000 set aside for this purpose we have already spent £117,900, with a further £446,200 in
the pipeline for approval. These monies have supported businesses across a range of sectors
including Health & Care, Education, Construction and Business.
Figure 2 – Entry Routes

3.5.

Diversity & Inclusion

The recruitment and workforce capacity programme has equality and diversity front and central
when reviewing the end-to-end recruitment and selection processes and will provide support to
managers including guidance and options to target diverse talent pools. Initial work is likely to focus
on changes around the application stage, inclusive wording for adverts, anonymous shortlisting,
Page 44

and smaller diverse selection panels. We are engaging closely with the BAME Steering Group and
others on the development of these issues. There are some dependencies to making some of
these changes happen, particularly system updates to support new ways of working.
4. What impact will this proposal have?
4.1. To support the delivery of the Council’s five-year People Strategy and our aspiration to
increase diversity within the workforce so that it represents the communities we serve.
4.2. To support the City’s ambitions for inclusive growth, in terms of widening recruitment pools
and making our roles accessible for a wider communities.
4.3. To develop our approach to attraction, recruitment and retention to enable us to compete in
the current labour market.
4.4. To ensure long-term workforce plans are developed to support the creation of talent
pipelines to enable us to grow our own talent working in partners to ensure we have the right
skills available to us at the right time.
5. What consultation and engagement has taken place?
5.1. The recruitment and workforce capacity work programme has been discussed with the
Human Resources Leadership Team, Resources Senior Leadership Team (19th May), Best
Council: People & Culture board (27th May), and Corporate Leadership Team (21st June). Trade
Union Colleagues have received a number of updates through regular consultation meetings.
The associated business case, seeking resource to progress the complex and interdependent
workstreams, has been discussed and supported by Financial Performance Group and a
delegated decision has been considered by the Chief HR Officer and the Trade Unions to
secure additional capacity to deliver the programme of work.
6. What are the resource implications?
6.1. It has been highlighted that recruitment and resourcing are key to ensure we have the right
skills, in the right place and the right time in order to deliver Council services and city ambitions
effectively. As such it has been recognised that investment in resourcing this work is necessary
to ensure momentum is maintained both in the immediate and long-term future. Support for
these resources has been sought through Financial Performance Group and through Delegated
Decisions and in consultation with the Trade Unions.

6.2. A working group has been established with representatives from across the organisation
with a particular focus on identifying, reviewing and testing new interventions.

6.3. It is recognised that a number of system developments may be required we are working
closely with IDS and Core Business Transformation team to consider options and how this work
is progressed.
7. What are the legal implications?
7.1. There are no legal implications. However, if we do not work alongside the EDI workstream
and ensure our recruitment processes are inclusive and transparent, then we will leave the
Council open to risk.
8. What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
8.1. Failure to secure candidates will impact on service delivery – targeted interventions are in
place to ensure essential services are receiving additional support to assist with improving the
Page 45

effectiveness of recruitment campaigns. More generally, we are modernising our approach to
ensure we attract, recruit and retain.
8.2. Failure to recruit a diverse workforce that is representative of the communities we serve –
we are working to ensure that we are extending our talent pipelines to attract a more diverse
workforce, we are looking to improve our approach to advertising and recruitment processes to
remove any barriers
8.3. Failure to appropriately plan for future workforce requirements will impact on our ability to
develop and secure sustainable talent pipelines – we are working to develop our maturity as an
organisation in relation to strategic workforce planning. This will ensure service consider future
resource requirements and we can develop strong talent pipelines through various entry routes.
9. Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars?
☒ Inclusive Growth

☐ Health and Wellbeing

☐ Climate Emergency

9.1. As part of the entry routes strand of work, we will work with schools, colleges, universities,
and communities to tap into talent pipelines locally. This will support the inclusive growth
programme through targeting deprived areas to support people into roles or direct them to other
support available to enable them to gain further education or employment.

9.2. Health and Wellbeing priority to have a strong economy with quality, local jobs, will be
supported. Our aim is to support people from local communities, schools, colleges, and
universities to access opportunities with the Council through the various entry routes already
mentioned.
10. Options, timescales and measuring success
10.1. What other options were considered?
Other options have not been considered; the work programme developed covers a large range of
interventions to respond to the current external and internal challenges in relation to resourcing and
talent management. Decisions will be made as work progresses and individual options appraisals
will take place as needed and follow appropriate governance.
10.2. How will success be measured?
Success will be measured against the delivery of the work plan and by monitoring the success of
interventions through key indicators that are currently being developed alongside the review of the
end-to-end recruitment process linked to system capabilities to record and report. The reporting
and system requirements are being considered with support from the Core Business
Transformation Team.
10.3. What is the timetable for implementation?
Timescales for this work programme are detailed in Figure 3.
Figure 3 – Timetable for delivery in 2022

Page 46

Appendices
None
Background papers
None

Page 47

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10
Report author: Richard Ellis
Tel: 0113 (37) 87814

Ward based analysis of Council Tax and Business Rates income
that was due to be collected in 2021/22.
Date: 25th July 2022
Report of: Chief Officer – Financial Services
Report to: Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources)
Will the decision be open for call in?

☐Yes ☒No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☐Yes ☒No

What is this report about?
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions


Executive Functions that fall within the remit of the Scrutiny Board (Strategy and
Resources) include:
o Ensuring and administering effective financial management and controls
o Setting, supporting and monitoring the Council’s policies and procedures for budgets



For this reason, the Scrutiny Board has a standing commitment to monitor financial health
and performance throughout the financial year, to identify emerging issues and to bring
forward any appropriate recommendations to the Executive in this regard.



The level of income receivable from both Business Rates and Council Tax contribute
significantly to the level of resources that are available to the Council for it to deliver the
range of services that it provides to the citizens of Leeds.



In 2021/22 the gross charge for Council Tax was £547.3m but after taking account of
exemptions, discounts and Council Tax Support the net amount payable is £420.2m. The
analysis by ward of where this income will be realised is detailed in Table 1 below.

Table 1: Analysis of Council Tax receivable by ward in 2021/22
Gross Council
WARD
Tax
Net Payable
Adel & Wharfedale
£18,746,562.62
£16,321,549.62
Alwoodley
£18,537,215.87
£15,401,567.62
Ardsley & Robin Hood
£15,592,436.83
£13,212,137.84
Armley
£15,289,544.23
£10,847,737.54
Beeston & Holbeck
£17,168,857.00
£12,679,374.18
Bramley & Stanningley
£14,467,602.77
£10,481,275.80
Burmantofts & Richmond Hill
£16,366,867.10
£10,494,632.57
Calverley & Farsley
£16,632,600.80
£14,037,480.92
Chapel Allerton
£15,853,803.42
£11,332,369.65
Cross Gates & Whinmoor
£16,176,050.19
£12,698,892.19

Page 49

Farnley & Wortley
Garforth & Swillington
Gipton & Harehills
Guiseley & Rawdon
Harewood
Headingley & Hyde Park
Horsforth
Hunslet & Riverside
Killingbeck & Seacroft
Kippax & Methley
Kirkstall
Little London & Woodhouse
Middleton Park
Moortown
Morley North
Morley South
Otley & Yeadon
Pudsey
Rothwell
Roundhay
Temple Newsam
Weetwood
Wetherby
Total



£15,618,371.72
£11,836,127.72
£14,596,415.08
£12,371,207.46
£14,027,637.58
£9,197,134.27
£18,634,127.46
£16,204,903.24
£18,272,092.56
£16,497,763.56
£15,486,682.84
£8,168,219.30
£18,330,127.74
£15,708,377.80
£18,102,664.47
£13,248,141.27
£15,220,506.32
£10,188,800.26
£15,246,761.71
£12,725,004.65
£13,467,133.03
£9,493,396.96
£24,241,807.28
£9,920,999.34
£16,288,894.09
£11,330,852.57
£16,038,926.41
£13,249,642.21
£16,451,002.75
£13,738,023.28
£16,586,320.06
£13,356,266.85
£17,593,034.56
£14,314,610.47
£17,125,112.35
£13,738,280.09
£14,445,624.49
£11,888,404.57
£16,782,817.43
£14,130,688.73
£14,830,622.09
£11,904,699.47
£15,739,996.97
£12,734,581.04
£19,353,581.28
£16,754,621.01
£547,311,801.10 £420,207,764.05

In 2021/22 the gross charge for Business Rates was £361.4m but after taking account of
discounts, reliefs and exemptions the net amount payable is £318.3m. The analysis by
ward of where this income will be realised is detailed in Table 2 below.

Table 2: Analysis of Business Rates receivable by ward in 2021/22
Gross Business
WARD
Rates
Net Payable
Adel & Wharfedale
£2,075,420.94
£1,828,300.50
Alwoodley
£2,546,884.28
£2,243,626.68
Ardsley & Robin Hood
£1,145,999.54
£1,009,545.34
Armley
£5,777,471.55
£5,089,547.82
Beeston & Holbeck
£30,087,741.90
£26,505,193.45
Bramley & Stanningley
£2,914,836.25
£2,567,766.60
Burmantofts & Richmond
Hill
£12,779,172.17
£11,257,555.70
Calverley & Farsley
£3,354,867.99
£2,955,403.74
Chapel Allerton
£4,254,861.40
£3,748,234.91
Cross Gates & Whinmoor
£4,904,585.22
£4,320,596.09
Farnley & Wortley
£6,262,771.45
£5,517,063.04
Garforth & Swillington
£8,912,738.75
£7,851,498.64
Gipton & Harehills
£6,012,452.87
£5,296,549.90
Guiseley & Rawdon
£5,898,091.41
£5,195,805.46
Harewood
£1,627,524.47
£1,433,735.08
Headingley & Hyde Park
£3,093,730.36
£2,725,359.78
Horsforth
£5,290,831.25
£4,660,851.79
Hunslet & Riverside
£58,316,070.93
£51,372,374.38

Page 50

Killingbeck & Seacroft
Kippax & Methley
Kirkstall
Little London & Woodhouse
Middleton Park
Moortown
Morley North
Morley South
Otley & Yeadon
Pudsey
Rothwell
Roundhay
Temple Newsam
Weetwood
Wetherby
Total



£8,724,734.33
£7,685,879.92
£1,618,859.71
£1,426,102.03
£6,550,695.66
£5,770,704.10
£93,619,677.35
£82,472,379.18
£2,312,773.46
£2,037,391.45
£2,354,066.67
£2,073,767.87
£23,265,921.45
£20,495,647.39
£11,741,855.03
£10,343,751.95
£8,596,129.65
£7,572,588.20
£8,322,365.18
£7,331,420.87
£3,706,228.63
£3,264,927.86
£3,493,964.83
£3,077,938.32
£9,218,041.57
£8,120,449.05
£3,185,314.03
£2,806,038.58
£9,404,141.81
£8,284,390.32
£361,370,822.09 £318,342,386.00

This position is summarised in Table 3 below which shows the gross (£908.7m) and net
amount (£738.5m) of both Council Tax and Business Rates collectable from each ward in
2021/22.

Table 3: Analysis of total Council Tax and Business Rates receivable by ward in 2021/22

WARD
Adel & Wharfedale
Alwoodley
Ardsley & Robin Hood
Armley
Beeston & Holbeck
Bramley & Stanningley
Burmantofts & Richmond Hill
Calverley & Farsley
Chapel Allerton
Cross Gates & Whinmoor
Farnley & Wortley
Garforth & Swillington
Gipton & Harehills
Guiseley & Rawdon
Harewood
Headingley & Hyde Park
Horsforth
Hunslet & Riverside
Killingbeck & Seacroft
Kippax & Methley
Kirkstall
Little London & Woodhouse
Middleton Park
Moortown
Morley North
Morley South

Total Gross
Total Net Council
Council Tax &
Tax & Business
Business Rates
Rates
£20,821,983.56
£18,149,850.12
£21,084,100.15
£17,645,194.30
£16,738,436.37
£14,221,683.18
£21,067,015.78
£15,937,285.36
£47,256,598.90
£39,184,567.63
£17,382,439.02
£13,049,042.40
£29,146,039.27
£21,752,188.27
£19,987,468.79
£16,992,884.66
£20,108,664.82
£15,080,604.56
£21,080,635.41
£17,019,488.28
£21,881,143.17
£17,353,190.76
£23,509,153.83
£20,222,706.10
£20,040,090.45
£14,493,684.17
£24,532,218.87
£21,400,708.70
£19,899,617.03
£17,931,498.64
£18,580,413.20
£10,893,579.08
£23,620,958.99
£20,369,229.59
£76,418,735.40
£64,620,515.65
£23,945,240.65
£17,874,680.18
£16,865,621.42
£14,151,106.68
£20,017,828.69
£15,264,101.06
£117,861,484.63
£92,393,378.52
£18,601,667.55
£13,368,244.02
£18,392,993.08
£15,323,410.08
£39,716,924.20
£34,233,670.67
£28,328,175.09
£23,700,018.80

Page 51

Otley & Yeadon
Pudsey
Rothwell
Roundhay
Temple Newsam
Weetwood
Wetherby
Total

£26,189,164.21
£25,447,477.53
£18,151,853.12
£20,276,782.26
£24,048,663.66
£18,925,311.00
£28,757,723.09
£908,682,623.19

£21,887,198.67
£21,069,700.96
£15,153,332.43
£17,208,627.05
£20,025,148.52
£15,540,619.62
£25,039,011.33
£738,550,150.05



The Council does not account for expenditure on a ward-based basis or equate expenditure
to areas from where income is generated from. When providing the Council with resources
the Government assess what is needed to carry out its statutory responsibilities. The
Government undertakes this assessment of the Council’s relative needs and resources at a
city-wide level rather than an individual ward level. This assessment includes making a
judgement about both the amount of council tax the Council can raise and the spending
needs of the Council as a whole. This ultimately determines how much in business rates
the Council can retain and how much Revenue Support Grant it will receive. This exercise
compares authority with authority and redistributes funding across England on a district-bydistrict basis and does not attempt either to equate spend to individual wards or the level of
resources such as council tax or business rates that can be generated from individual
wards. Therefore, it is not possible to allocate the combined general funding of Revenue
Support Grant, business rates and council tax between wards in the city.



The Council does not currently budget or account for the expenditure it incurs on a ward
basis. If it was required to account for expenditure and income in this way, it would require
a significant piece of work, with consequent resource implications, to review the Council’s
revenue budget and allocate and apportion expenditure on a ward-by-ward basis. Such an
exercise would require extensive data on cost drivers, particularly for city-wide services that
are not delivered on an individual ward level, data that in most cases is not readily available
to inform how this is to be done.



All residents within Leeds City Council’s area should receive the same level and quality of
service regardless of where they live. To start to analyse income via wards and compare
this to the services provided would create disparity of service provision across these wards
and drive the wrong behaviours.



Income from Business Rates and Council Tax are consolidated along with other resources
available into both the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy and it’s the Annual
Revenue Budget which supports the delivery of the Best City Ambition. These strategic
ambitions can only be delivered through a sound understanding of the organisation’s
longer-term financial sustainability which enables decisions to be made that balance the
resource implications of the Council’s policies against financial constraints. This is the
primary purpose of the Medium-Term Financial Strategy which then provides the framework
for the determination of Council’s annual revenue budget.



Members have previously identified the robustness and long-term sustainability of the
Council’s revenue budget as key priorities for the Council’s Strategy and Resources
Scrutiny Board. The Medium-Term Financial Strategy, Annual Revenue Budget, Financial
Health and Financial Outturn reports are examples of several items of business, scheduled
throughout the municipal year, that provide clear opportunities to examine these themes
Page 52

with senior officers and Executive members. The 2022/23 work schedule reflects the fact
that Scrutiny Board will should once again consider such items of business.


In recent years, the role of scrutiny as a ‘critical friend’ on financial performance and
management has supported the Best Council ambition to be an efficient and enterprising
organisation. Looking to the future, the Scrutiny Board will consider these issues in the
context of the priorities set out in the recently adopted Best City Ambition.

Recommendations
Members are asked to:
a) Note the ward-based analysis of Business Rates and Council Tax income receivable by
the Council in 2021/22.
Why is the proposal being put forward?
1

The Scrutiny Board (Strategy and Resources) has several key financial functions within its
remit. These include ensuring effective financial management and controls; setting,
supporting and monitoring the Council’s policies and procedures for budgets; administering
effective financial management and controls; and setting, supporting and monitoring the
Council’s financial strategy.

2

Income from both Business Rates and Council are consolidated along with other resources
available into both the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy and the Annual Revenue
Budget which supports the delivery of the Best City Ambition.

3

At the meeting of Scrutiny Board (Strategy and Resources) on the 21st of June 2021
consideration was given to potential sources of work which could include how “Council Tax
collection and expenditure varies across the city.” This report provides the ward-based
analysis of both Council Tax and Business Rates and provides a commentary as to why
expenditure cannot and should not be analysed on a similar basis.

What impact will this proposal have?
Wards Affected: Please state the specific wards affected here. If city-wide, state “All” for clarity.
Have ward members been consulted?

☐Yes

☒No

4

This report will provide an awareness to Scrutiny Board (Strategy and Resources) as to
the level of Council Tax and Business Rates income that is collected from each ward. It
also explains that the Government undertakes its assessment of the Council’s relative
needs and resources at a city-wide level rather than an individual ward level and that the
Council does not currently budget or account for the expenditure it incurs on a ward basis.

5

In line with the Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules, all Scrutiny Boards also continue to
ensure that equality and diversity/cohesion and integration are considered in decision
making and policy formulation.

What consultation and engagement has taken place?
6

Through its work programme the Scrutiny Board maintains regular dialogue with both
senior officers and the Executive in relation to matters of financial health and performance.

Page 53

What are the resource implications?
7

All resource implications are incorporated into this report.

What are the legal implications?
8

This report has no specific legal implications.

What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
9

This report has no specific risk management implications.

Does this proposal support the council’s 3 Key Pillars?
☒Inclusive Growth

☒Health and Wellbeing

☒Climate Emergency

10 The terms of reference of the Scrutiny Boards continue to promote a strategic and outward
looking Scrutiny function that focuses on the Best Council Plan.
11 Having a robust and sustainable budgetary position will enable the Council to deliver
against its priorities including the three key pillars set out above.

Appendices
12 None

Background papers
13 None

Page 54

Agenda Item 11
Report author: Rebecca Atherton
Tel: 0113 378 8642

Work Programme
Date: 25 July 2022
Report of: Head of Democratic Services
Report to: Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources)
Will the decision be open for call in?

☐ Yes ☒ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☐ Yes ☒ No

Brief summary
The report sets out the 2022/23 work programme for the Scrutiny Board (Strategy &
Resources) and is reflective of board member discussions to date.
All Scrutiny Boards are required to determine and manage their own work schedule for the
municipal year. In doing so, the work schedule should not be considered a fixed and rigid
schedule, it should be recognised as a document that can be adapted and changed to reflect
any new and emerging issues throughout the year.
Members will be invited to review and discuss the work schedule at each public Scrutiny
Board meeting that takes place during the 2022/23 municipal year.

Recommendations
a) Members are requested to consider and discuss the Scrutiny Board’s work schedule for the
2022/23 municipal year.
What is this report about?
1 A draft work schedule for the Strategy & Resources Scrutiny Board is presented at Appendix 1
for consideration and discussion. Reflected in the work schedule are known items of scrutiny
activity, including performance and budget monitoring, identified Budget and Policy Framework
items and recommendation tracking.
2 The latest Executive Board minutes from the meeting held on 22 June 2022 are also attached
as Appendix 2. The Scrutiny Board is asked to consider and note the Executive Board minutes,
insofar as they relate to the remit of the Scrutiny Board; and consider any matter where specific
scrutiny activity may also be warranted.
3 For information, the Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules state that, where appropriate, all terms of
reference for work undertaken by Scrutiny Boards will include a review of ‘how and to what
effect consideration has been given to the impact of a service or policy on all equality areas, as
set out in the Council’s Equality and Diversity Scheme’.
Page 55

What impact will this proposal have?
4 All Scrutiny Boards are required to determine and manage their own work schedule for the
municipal year.
5 The draft work schedule is reflective of the requests to date from members of the Strategy &
Resources Scrutiny Board.
How does this proposal impact the three pillars of the Best City Ambition?
☒ Health and Wellbeing

☒ Inclusive Growth

☒ Zero Carbon

6 The terms of reference of the Scrutiny Boards promote a strategic and outward looking Scrutiny
function that focuses on the best council objectives.
What consultation and engagement has taken place?
Wards affected:
Have ward members been consulted?

☐ Yes

☐ No

7 To enable Scrutiny to focus on strategic areas of priority, it is recognised that each Scrutiny
Board needs to establish and maintain an effective dialogue with relevant Directors and
Executive Board Members.
8 The Vision for Scrutiny also states that Scrutiny Boards should seek the advice of the Scrutiny
officer, the relevant Director and Executive Member about available resources prior to agreeing
items of work.
What are the resource implications?
9 Experience has shown that the Scrutiny process is more effective and adds greater value if the
Board seeks to minimise the number of substantial inquiries running at one time.
10 The Vision for Scrutiny, agreed by full Council also recognises that like all other Council
functions, resources to support the Scrutiny function are under considerable pressure and that
requests from Scrutiny Boards cannot always be met.
11 Consequently, when establishing their work programmes Scrutiny Boards should:
 Seek the advice of the Scrutiny officer, the relevant Director and Executive Member
about available resources;
 Avoid duplication by having a full appreciation of any existing forums already having
oversight of, or monitoring a particular issue;
 Ensure any Scrutiny undertaken has clarity and focus of purpose and will add value and
can be delivered within an agreed time frame.
What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
12 This report has no specific risk management implications.
What are the legal implications?
13 This report has no specific legal implications.
Page 56

Options, timescales and measuring success
What other options were considered?
14 The work programme is reflective of the requests of the Scrutiny Board members to date and
will be reviewed by the Scrutiny Board at each meeting of the municipal year.
How will success be measured?
15 The work of all Scrutiny Boards will be reviewed and summarised in an Annual Report, which is
presented for consideration by Council at the start of the next municipal year.
What is the timetable and who will be responsible for implementation?
16 All Scrutiny Boards are required to determine and manage their own work schedule for the
municipal year. In doing so, the work schedule should not be considered a fixed and rigid
schedule, it should be recognised as a document that can be adapted and changed to reflect
any new and emerging issues throughout the year.
Appendices



Appendix 1: Draft work programme 2022/23
Appendix 2: Executive Board minutes 22 June 2022

Background papers


None

Page 57

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 1
Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources)
Work Schedule for 2022/23 Municipal Year

June

July

August

Meeting Agenda for 20 June 2022

Meeting Agenda for 25 July 2022

No Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled.

Page 59

Scrutiny Board Terms of Reference /
Sources of Work (DB) / Co-opted members
reports

Digital Strategy Update

Performance Update (PM)

Recruitment and Retention

Financial Outturn (PM)

Area based income assessment (council tax and
business rates)

Agile Working and Estate Realisation

Procurement update: contracts, T&Cs and
monitoring of those T&Cs.
Working Group Meetings

4/7/22 – remote session: budget assumptions & impact
of external factors such as inflation
Site Visits

Scrutiny Work Items Key:
PSR
Policy/Service Review
PDS
Pre-decision Scrutiny

RT
PM

Recommendation Tracking
Performance Monitoring

DB
C

Development Briefings
Consultation Response

Appendix 1
Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources)
Work Schedule for 2022/23 Municipal Year

September

October

November

Meeting Agenda for 26 September 2022

No meetings

Meeting Agenda for 7 November 2022

Electoral Services Update (PM)

Financial Health Monitoring (PM) & Impact of
Inflation

Annual Corporate Risk Management Report

Medium term financial strategy

Core Business Transformation

Replacement for the UK Shared Prosperity
Fund

Page 60

Customer Contact (PDS)
Leeds 2023 including update on Community
Committee / ward member engagement
Working Group Meetings

Budget Working Group [TBC]
Site Visits

Scrutiny Work Items Key:
PSR
Policy/Service Review
PDS
Pre-decision Scrutiny

RT
PM

Recommendation Tracking
Performance Monitoring

DB
C

Development Briefings
Consultation Response

Appendix 1
Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources)
Work Schedule for 2022/23 Municipal Year
December

January

February

Meeting Agenda 12 December 2022

Meeting Agenda for 16 January 2023

Meeting Agenda for 20 February 2023

Staff Inclusion: to include staff network
representation

Performance Report (PM)

Waste Strategy for Leeds [joint inquiry followup]

FOI: progress on performance, potential for
automation

2023/24 Initial Budget Proposals (PDS)/
Financial Health Monitoring (PSR)
Best City Ambition update

Procurement update (2)
Page 61

Devolution – one year on

Working Group Meetings

Site Visits

Scrutiny Work Items Key:
PSR
Policy/Service Review
PDS
Pre-decision Scrutiny

RT
PM

Recommendation Tracking
Performance Monitoring

DB
C

Development Briefings
Consultation Response

Appendix 1
Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources)
Work Schedule for 2022/23 Municipal Year
March

April

May

Meeting Agenda for 27 March 2023

No Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled.

No Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled.

Statement of Recommendations / Actions:
Procurement
Understanding the extent of works included
within service planning that remains
unfunded.
Page 62
Working Group Meetings

Site Visits

Scrutiny Work Items Key:
PSR
Policy/Service Review
PDS
Pre-decision Scrutiny

RT
PM

Recommendation Tracking
Performance Monitoring

DB
C

Development Briefings
Consultation Response

EXECUTIVE BOARD
WEDNESDAY, 22ND JUNE, 2022
PRESENT:

Councillor J Lewis in the Chair
Councillors S Arif, A Carter, D Coupar,
S Golton, M Harland, H Hayden, J Pryor,
M Rafique and F Venner

1

Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public
There was no information contained within the agenda which was designated
as being exempt from publication.

2

Late Items
There were no late items of business submitted to the Board for
consideration.

3

Declaration of Interests
There were no interests declared at the meeting.

4

Minutes
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 20th April
2022 be approved as a correct record.
ECONOMY, CULTURE AND EDUCATION

5

Outcome of the statutory notice on a proposal to decommission the
Resource Provision at Gledhow Primary School
Further to Minute No. 131, 16 March 2022, the Director of Children and
Families submitted a report presenting the outcomes from the publication of a
statutory notice on a proposal to decommission the Speech and Language
Resource Provision at Gledhow Primary School with effect from August 2022.
Specifically, the report invited the Board to review the outcome of the statutory
notice and approve the proposal to decommission the Resource Provision
from end of the 2021/22 academic year.
In introducing the report, the Executive Member presented the key points of
this proposal, and noted that there had been no responses received
throughout the statutory notice period.
A Member made enquiries regarding the proposal when considering the wider
provision of, and demand for speech and language services across the city
moving forward. In response, the Board was provided with further detail on
the actions which had been taken when drawing up the proposals, such as
the associated consultation exercise and the work undertaken which had
identified that the proposals would be better suited to providing good
outcomes for the young people using the service. Also, it was noted that there
was confidence that the new model would deliver sufficient provision in the
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 27th July, 2022

Page 63

city. Responding to a further enquiry on sufficiency of provision, officers
undertook to liaise with health colleagues to provide the Member in question
with further detail on this.
In agreeing the proposals detailed within the submitted report, Councillor A
Carter reiterated the comments that he had made during the consideration of
this item regarding sufficiency of service provision.
RESOLVED –
(a)
That the outcomes from the statutory notice, be noted, and that the
proposal to decommission the Resource Provision from the end of the
academic year 2021/22, as detailed within the report, be approved;
(b)

6

That it be noted that the responsible officer for the implementation of
such matters is the Head of Learning Inclusion.

The New Discretionary Business Rate Relief Scheme
Further to Minute No. 19, 22 June 2016, the Director of Resources and the
Director of City Development submitted a joint report regarding the review of
the Discretionary Business Rates Relief policy which had been undertaken,
and which presented proposals for a new scheme for the Board’s
consideration, which aimed to support the creation, retention and
improvement of employment delivering inclusive growth in the city.
Responding to a Member’s enquiry, the Board received further detail
regarding the proposal to cap the total scheme value at £1.75m, which it was
noted was a cap level that had been carried over from the previously agreed
scheme. In addition, responding to a specific enquiry, clarification was
provided that whilst the Council’s Community Centres were charged Business
Rates, the Council did not apply for those centres to be part of the Business
Rates Relief scheme.
RESOLVED –
(a)
That the policy for the new Discretionary Business Rates Relief
Scheme, as detailed within the submitted report, be approved;
(b)

7

That the decision to award discretionary business rate relief be
delegated to the Director of City Development, together with authority
to make any minor alterations to the approved scheme.

Securing the proposed new public artwork in memory of David Oluwale
and for the City of Leeds, and Authority to enter into an Agreement with
Leeds Culture Trust
The Director of City Development submitted a report which provided
information on the collaborative work being undertaken to establish a new
landmark public art commission for Leeds designed to commemorate the life
of David Oluwale and to also provide representation and aspiration to the
community he came from. The report sought approval regarding related
expenditure, and also sought authority to enter into an agreement with Leeds
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 27th July, 2022

Page 64

Culture Trust to set out the respective obligations between the parties with
regard to delivering the project.
Responding to Members’ enquiries, assurance was provided on the actions
which were being taken to ensure that the Council was fully supporting Leeds
2023’s fundraising strategy for the initiative and that Board Members would
receive regular updates as appropriate in relation to this project and its
financial position. In addition, it was noted that the £1.83m would be included
within the overall fundraising aspirations of Leeds 2023 in the delivery of the
year of culture, and during the year this project would be one of signature
events.
RESOLVED –
(a) That approval be given to Leeds City Council front funding the cost of
the project, as detailed within the submitted report, up to £1.83m, to
be held against the Capital Programme contingency reserve, with the
amount being held against the reserve being reduced as the
fundraising progresses;
(b) That the authority required to enter into an agreement with Leeds
Culture Trust in order to set out the respective obligations between
the parties with regard to delivering the project, be approved;
(c) That Board Members receive regular updates, as appropriate, in
relation to this project and its financial position.
INFRASTRUCTURE AND CLIMATE
8

Submission of Round 2 Levelling Up Fund (LUF) Bids
Further to Minute No. 138, 20th April 2022, the Director of City Development
submitted a report which provided an update on the current position regarding
the Round 2 of the Levelling Up Fund (LUF). In addition, the report also
sought approval of the submission of the proposed bids, and also sought
approval of related expenditure, as detailed.
In introducing the report, the Executive Member provided an overview of the
actions taken to date which had led to the proposed round 2 LUF bids, as
detailed within the submitted report. The Executive Member thanked those
officers who had progressed the proposed submissions to this stage in what
had been a limited timeframe.
Members noted the approach which had been taken towards the bids in terms
of the number of bids proposed and the broad range of projects that they
covered. Responding to a Member’s enquiries both on that approach and
also on whether there was a prioritisation of the bids, it was noted that when
submitted, each bid would be assessed in its own right and whilst the Council
had not been asked to prioritise the bids, should a request be received from
Government in relation to this, it was undertaken that a process would be
established, as appropriate.
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 27th July, 2022

Page 65

In conclusion, Members noted the role of the constituency MPs in the
respective bids, the fact that it was unknown whether there would be any
further LUF funding rounds in the future, that Government feedback on LUF
bids whether they be successful or otherwise, would be welcomed, and that
Leeds had been allocated ‘priority status’ for this second round, which had
afforded the Council the opportunity to submit a bid for each constituency.
RESOLVED –
(a)
That agreement be given for the projects as listed in paragraphs 5-10
of the submitted report to be submitted as the Council’s bids under
Round 2 of the Levelling Up Fund, and that the necessary authority be
delegated to the Director of City Development to enable the Director to
undertake the necessary work to finalise and refine the bids in order to
ensure submissions by the deadline of 6th July 2022;
(b)

That agreement be given for the use of the Council’s Capital
Programme contingency funds as a source of match funding to the
LUF bids and/or that agreement be given to use such funds to
underwrite the unknown outcome of other external funding bids relating
to the LUF projects, as set out in paras 24-30 of the submitted report;

(c)

That in the event of bid success, agreement be given for the Director of
City Development to undertake the further work necessary to progress
all required planning and other statutory approvals that will need to be
in place to enable delivery of the LUF-funded projects, in consultation
with the Executive Member for Infrastructure and Climate and the
Executive Member for Public Health and Active Lifestyles, as
appropriate and as relevant in each case;

(d)

That the decisions taken in relation to this report be exempted from the
Call In process, due to the risk that the deadline for bid submission on
the 6th July 2022 is missed, as further detailed in paragraphs 34 – 35
of the submitted report.

(The Council’s Executive and Decision Making Procedure Rules state that a
decision may be declared as being exempt from the Call In process by the
decision taker if it is considered that the matter is urgent and any delay would
seriously prejudice the Council’s, or the public’s interests. In line with this, the
resolutions contained within this minute were exempted from the Call In
process, as per resolution (d) above, and for the reasons as detailed within
sections 34 - 35 of the submitted report)
9

Leeds Station Sustainable Travel Gateway Scheme
Further to Minute No. 80, 17th October 2018, the Director of City Development
submitted a report regarding the Leeds Station Sustainable Travel Gateway
project (LSSTG) which was being delivered as part of the West Yorkshire
Combined Authority (WYCA) Transforming Cities Fund programme. The
LSSTG project, which was a joint undertaking with WYCA and Network Rail
aimed to address issues of capacity, accessibility, health and safety, security
and connectivity from the station’s entrance on New Station Street to the City
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 27th July, 2022

Page 66

Centre and South Bank. Specifically, the report sought required approvals for
an injection into the Capital Programme and associated authority to spend.
In introducing the report, the Executive Member provided an overview of the
development of the scheme to date, what the proposed works entailed, details
of the associated timeframe and gave a brief summary of the consultation
exercise undertaken. Detail was also provided on the latest trends in
passenger numbers accessing the station. The Executive Member also
highlighted that in order to meet the long term needs of Leeds Station it was
proposed by Network Rail to create a pedestrian priority area on New Station
Street which was owned by Network Rail, with it also being noted that the
proposed works would predominately be delivered on Network Rail property
and that Network Rail would manage and maintain the asset when completed.
A Member highlighted concerns from some taxi and private hire trade
representatives and from some representing disability groups on the
proposals which had been brought to his attention. It was noted that such
concerns were specifically regarding disabled accessibility and the relocation
of the taxi rank to Bishopgate Street and the potential for capacity related
issues arising. In response, it was emphasised that whilst the Council would
continue to work with partners on such matters and in acknowledging the
related concerns which had been raised, it was reiterated that New Station
Street was Network Rail property and the security decision to remove vehicles
from New Station Street had been taken by Network Rail.
In relation to the concerns regarding disabled access, the Board received an
overview of the breadth of consultation undertaken, and whilst the concerns
raised as part of that consultation were acknowledged, the level of support
which had been provided was highlighted. In addition, details were provided
on how the proposals aimed to improve accessibility, including disabled
access in the vicinity of the station. Finally, officers undertook to provide the
Member in question with further detail / a briefing around the modelling and
design work that had taken place and which had led to the proposals, should
this be required.
RESOLVED –
(a)
That the previous injections and authority to spend of £9.737m up to
the end of May 2022, specifically for development works and advanced
works at Bishopgate East, Neville Street, and Dark Neville Street
ahead of the main construction programme, be noted;
(b)

That the remaining injection of £25.912m from a total of £35.649m
available funding into the Capital Programme be approved (which is
subject to subsequent approval at the West Yorkshire Combined
Authority (WYCA) Transport Committee on 1st July 2022 and entering
into a subsequent Funding Agreement with WYCA); with such funding
delivering the main construction element of Leeds Station Sustainable
Travel Gateway (LSSTG) project;

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 27th July, 2022

Page 67

(c)

That it be noted that approval to enter into the contracts associated
with the delivery of the LSSTG will be subject to the approval of the
Director of City Development, under delegated decision-making
authority;

(d)

That the authority to spend £25.912m on the LSSTG programme in
order to deliver the remaining main construction element of the LSSTG
project, be approved, which will be funded by the Transforming Cities
Fund and administered by WYCA, subject to the WYCA Transport
Committee of 1st July 2022.

(Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 16.5, Councillor A Carter
required it to be recorded that he abstained from voting on the decisions
referred to within this Minute)
RESOURCES
10

Social Value Fund Proposal
The Director of Resources submitted a report, which further to the
establishment of the Leeds Social Value Charter in 2016, presented the
development of an outline proposal for a Social Value Fund, which involved
charging suppliers/tenderers an annual fee to contribute towards social and
economic value in Leeds, with the aim of the proposal being to provide a
simple mechanism to generate a significant new income stream through
which social value could be enhanced via procurement.
In presenting the report the Executive Member provided an overview of the
proposals for the scheme, gave details of the consultation undertaken to date
and noted that it was expected that the proposal could potentially generate
more than £500,000 every year.
Whilst being supportive of the principle of raising funds for the promotion of
social value, concerns were raised regarding this proposal in terms of the
focus it placed upon the private sector, the timing of the proposals and the
impact it may potentially have upon other existing fund raising schemes. In
response, the Board received further detail regarding the Council’s existing
obligation to derive social value benefit from its procurement process, and
how this scheme aimed to establish a simple and proportionate way of
achieving that from the significant number of smaller contractors the Council
had. In addition, further detail was provided on the positive response which
had been received on the proposals to date.
RESOLVED – That the Social Value Fund proposal, as detailed within the
submitted report, be approved for implementation by the Director of
Resources.
(Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 16.5, Councillor A Carter
and Councillor S Golton required it to be recorded that they both respectively
voted against the decisions referred to within this Minute)
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 27th July, 2022

Page 68

11

Financial Performance – Outturn financial year ended 31st March 2022
The Chief Officer (Financial Services) submitted a report presenting the
Council’s final outturn position for the 2021/22 financial year in respect of both
the revenue and capital budgets and also the Housing Revenue Account. The
report also included expenditure on schools. In addition, the report also
sought approval of proposals regarding the creation of earmarked reserves
and injections into the Capital Programme.
In introducing the report, the Executive Member extended her thanks on
behalf of the Board to the Chief Officer Financial Services and her team for
the work which had been undertaken in getting the Council to its outturn
position, given the range and scale of challenges which continued to be faced,
with it being noted that the final position on the General Fund shows an
underspend of £1.5m.
In response to a Member’s specific enquiry, the Board received further detail
on the financial implications for the Council should any potential pay
settlement in the current financial year be above what had already been
budgeted for.
Responding to a Member’s comments, the Board received an update on the
current position in relation directorate budget reviews and the delivery of
directorate budget action plans. Further to this, whilst acknowledging the
financial support that the Council had received from Government during the
pandemic, it was noted that the Authority had not been allocated further
resource to deal with related backlogs, which had been the case in some
other sectors. It was also noted that dialogue continued with the Government
on such matters, however, when considering the significant financial
challenges that continued to be faced by the Council, it was emphasised that
all directorates would need to undertake financial reviews moving forward.
RESOLVED –
(a)
That the Council’s outturn position for the 2021/22 financial year, as
detailed within the submitted report, be noted;
(b)

That the creation of earmarked reserves, as detailed within Appendix 1
to the submitted report, be agreed, and that the release of such
reserves be delegated to the Chief Officer Financial Services;

(c)

That it be noted that the Chief Officer Financial Services will be
responsible for the implementation of the actions (detailed
above/below) following the conclusion of the “Call In” period;

(d)

That the following injections into the Capital Programme be approved,
as detailed at Appendix 5A (iii) to the submitted report: £63,116.9k of Basic Need and High Needs Provision Capital
Allocation (HNPCA) Grants for Schools;
 £27,743.7k of external contributions for the Connecting Leeds /
Leeds Public Transport Investment Programme;
 £2,499.3k of external contributions for Leeds Playhouse; and
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 27th July, 2022

Page 69


(e)

12

£3,746.5k of other external contributions;

That the additional Capital Receipts Incentive Scheme (CRIS)
allocations to Wards and Community Committees for the period
October 2021 to March 2022 of £262.3k, be noted.

Treasury Management Outturn Report 2021/22
The Chief Officer (Financial Services) submitted a report which presented the
Council’s Treasury Management Outturn position for 2021/22.
Responding to a Member’s enquiries, the Board received further detail on the
actions taken within the treasury management strategy which had resulted in
an overall saving to the revenue budget, information on why borrowing levels
had reduced during the reporting period and also on the actions being taken
to mitigate risk against the potential implications for the Council should
interest rates continue to rise.
RESOLVED – That the Treasury Management outturn position for 2021/22,
as detailed within the submitted report, be noted, together with the fact that
treasury activity has remained within the Treasury Management strategy and
policy framework.
ADULT AND CHILDREN’S SOCIAL CARE AND HEALTH PARTNERSHIPS

13

OfSTED Inspection Report
The Director of Children and Families submitted a report presenting the
findings of the recent Ofsted inspection of Leeds’ Local Authority Children’s
Services which had been carried out between 21st February to 4th March
2022. A copy of the full inspection report was appended to the submitted
report for Members’ consideration.
In presenting the report, the Executive Member highlighted the Council’s
significant achievement of maintaining its ‘Outstanding’ judgement following
the recent Ofsted inspection of Leeds local authority children’s services,
particularly given the unprecedented challenges which had been faced as a
result of the pandemic. The Executive Member then provided the Board with a
detailed overview of the inspection’s outcomes and it was underlined that the
Council would not become complacent in light of this judgement, with
emphasis being placed on the fact that outstanding did not mean perfection. It
was also noted that senior leadership would develop an improvement plan
based upon the inspection’s findings and work with the Children and Families
Scrutiny Board on the implementation of that plan was intended. In
conclusion, the Executive Member paid tribute to and thanked the Director of
Children and Families, together with his team of staff for their continued
dedication to the children of Leeds, with it being highlighted that this
‘Outstanding’ outcome was a testimony to their efforts. Members of the Board
and the Chief Executive echoed the Executive Member’s thanks to the officers
across the Children and Families directorate.

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 27th July, 2022

Page 70

In considering the report, Members welcomed the Executive Member’s
comments about not becoming complacent and highlighted the importance of
remaining vigilant in the protection of children, and also looked forward to
further innovation and improvement in appropriate service areas to build upon
that which had already been achieved.
Members highlighted that whilst the priority would always be the wellbeing of
children in Leeds, there were benefits for the service in the sharing of best
practice with other Authorities, where appropriate.
Responding to a specific enquiry, the Board received an update on the next
steps in relation to a review into the notification of serious child safeguarding
incidents following previous consideration of this matter by the Children and
Families Scrutiny Board, with it being noted that a report was intended to be
submitted from the Leeds Safeguarding Children Partnership Review Advisory
Group to the Scrutiny Bord in due course.
In response to a further enquiry, the Board received information on the range
of actions being taken to address the impact upon Leeds arising from the
national challenge currently faced in relation to social worker shortages which
resulted in higher case loads. This was in addition to the information which
had been provided on such matters by the Executive Member as part of her
introductory comments.
In conclusion, the Executive Member provided an overview of the
improvements which had been made following the Ofsted visit in 2021, which
were reflected in the most recent Ofsted outcomes. It was also highlighted
how a lot of Leeds practice was being recognised nationally. Finally, the
Executive Member reiterated her thanks, on behalf of the Board, to the staff
across the Children and Families directorate.
RESOLVED –
(a)
That the contents of the submitted report, in particular OfSTED’s
recognition that Leeds has maintained a relentless focus on prioritising
services and support to children and families, be noted;
(b)

That it be noted that Leeds has maintained its ‘Outstanding’ rating and
will address the identified areas for improvement;

(c)

That the Board’s appreciation and thanks be formally recorded, for the
following:Front line staff and managers whose often challenging day to day work
has made such a difference to the lives of children and families in
Leeds;
Elected Members and senior officers of the Council who have
prioritised children despite significant challenges arising from the
Covid-19 Pandemic and 12 years of austerity and cuts to Local
Government funding;




Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 27th July, 2022

Page 71



(d)

The support of our partners, third sector colleagues, businesses and
communities across the city who have supported this work through
Child Friendly Leeds, which enters its tenth year in 2022;
That it be noted that the officer responsible for the implementation of
such matters is the Director of Children and Families.

ENVIRONMENT AND HOUSING
14

Approval of the updated Leeds Housing Strategy
The Director of Communities, Housing and Environment submitted a report
which presented and sought approval of a new strategy for Leeds Housing for
the period 2022 to 2027 which had been developed around six key themes.
The report noted that the proposed new strategy built upon the previous
Housing Strategy (2016 – 2021) and set out the city’s ambitions for housing
over the next five years, whilst also reflecting the evolving priorities and
changes to legislation which have occurred.
In presenting the report, the Executive Member highlighted how the proposed
strategy was built upon its predecessor, but now reflected the evolving
challenges currently being faced in this area which the strategy aimed to
focus upon via the six key themes within it.
Responding to a Member’s enquiry, the Board received assurance and further
detail on the performance monitoring against the key themes of the strategy
that would be undertaken, with the key role of the Leeds Housing Strategy
Board in this process being emphasised.
Also, the importance of partnership working with colleagues in planning
services was highlighted and acknowledged in order to ensure the best
outcomes for residents and communities across Leeds.
Similarly, in response to a Member’s comments, the importance of delivering
appropriate levels of suitable housing in all communities across Leeds was
acknowledged, with further information on the actions being taken in this area
being provided, which again included the partnership working arrangements
which were in place, as referenced above.
RESOLVED –
(a) That the new Leeds Housing Strategy 2022-2027, as presented at
appendix 1 to the submitted report, be approved;
(b) That it be noted that the Director of Communities, Housing and
Environment and the Chief Housing Officer will be accountable for the
implementation of the new strategy and overseeing its delivery.
DATE OF PUBLICATION:

FRIDAY, 24TH JUNE 2022

LAST DATE FOR CALL IN
OF ELIGIBLE DECISIONS:

5.00 P.M., FRIDAY, 1ST JULY 2022
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 27th July, 2022

Page 72

